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(The proceedi ngs conti nued, commenci ng at
8:00 a.m, Thursday, June 28, 2007, as follows:)

JUDGE WAHL: We are on the record,
counsel. The record will show that it is eight
o' clock, June 28, 2007, the date for the
continued -- or further hearings of Otter Tail
Cor poration and Montana-Dakota Utilities Co.
advance determ nation of prudence applications for
their respective participation and ownership
interest in the Big Stone Il Generating Plant, the
application of Otter Tail Corporation being Public
Service Comm ssion Case No. PU-06-481, and the
application of Montana-Dakota Utilities Co. being
Public Service Comm ssion Case No. PU-06-482.

M. Kuntz, with you, | think, yet.

MR. KUNTZ: Thank you, Your Honor. We
woul d call Duane Steen.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Steen, as you are
doubt |l ess aware, your testinmony is required to be
under oath and in North Dakota | am required by | aw
to advise you regarding perjury before
adm ni stering the oath. Perjury is a false
statement of material fact which you do not believe
to be true, in other words, generally speaking, a

lie. In North Dakota perjury is a Class C fel ony,
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puni shable by a fine up to $5,000, inmprisonnment for
a period of up to five years, or both. WIIl you
rai se your right hand, please?

(Wtness sworn.)
JUDGE WAHL: M. Kuntz.
DUANE STEEN,
being first duly sworn, was exam ned and testified
as follows:
DI RECT EXAM NATI ON

BY MR. KUNTZ:

Q State your nanme and busi ness address,
pl ease.
A. My name i s Duane Steen. | " m enpl oyed at

400 North Fourth Street, Bismarck, North Dakota
58501.

Q Who i s your enployer?

A. My enpl oyer is Montana-Dakota Utilities.
Q What's your position with Montana-Dakota?
A. | am-- ny title is director of new

generation devel opment.

Q What are your responsibilities for that
position?

A. |'"'mresponsible to track new generation
technol ogi es, as well as being responsible for

devel opment of those -- of new resources to neet
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our capacity and energy needs for new generation to

meet our customers' demand.

Q What's your educational background, M.
St een?
A. | have a bachel or of science degree from

North Dakota State University.

Q And your enpl oynment background?

A My empl oyment background, | have been with
Mont ana- Dakota Utilities in various positions,
starting with plant engineer up through my current
position, and that's taken me 33 years with MDU.

Q Have you caused to be prepared prefiled
testinony and exhibits in this proceedi ng?

A | have.

Q ' m showi ng you what should be in front of
you mar ked as Exhibit MDU-204 and 205. Do you have
t hose exhibits there?

A | do.

Q And are those copies of your prefiled
direct testimony and accompanyi ng exhibit?

A That's correct.

Q Do you have any corrections or changes to
make to those exhibits?

A | do not.

Q And if | were to ask you the same
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guestions that appear in Exhibit MDU-204, would
your answers be the same as they appear in that
exhi bit?

A They woul d be.

MR. KUNTZ: We would offer MDU Exhibits
204 and 205.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Breen.

MR. BREEN: No objection

JUDGE WAHL: M. Bi nek.

MR. BI NEK: No objection

JUDGE WAHL: MDU Exhi bits -- or Exhibits
MDU- 204 and 205 are each received.

Q (MR. KUNTZ CONTI NUI NG) M. Steen, could
you provide the Comm ssion with a summary of your
direct testimny, please, at this tinme?

A. | can. Basically ny testimony covers our
activities to review alternative generation sources
which led us to BSPIIl participation, which is, we
believe, the nmost cost-effective future resource.

As indicated by Ms. Stomberg earlier, our
primary need for basel oad power supply was the | oss
of our 66 megawatt basel oad purchase agreement with
Basin Electric Power Cooperative. I n addition to
t hat, of course, we want to cover our future | oad

growth for our customers.
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Our energy marketing department indicated
that we are entering into a market capacity
deficient time period. This is exactly as
i ndicated by M. Uggerud in his prior testinony.

Li ke Otter Tail Power, MDU visited with a
number of regional utilities, including various |PP
groups that came to us about avail able capacity and
energy. At that point we were unable to find any
match for our needs. Knowi ng t hat basel oad
coal -fired opportunities don't come al ong very
often, when Big Stone did present itself, we |ooked
at it. But that being said, we wanted to test the
waters further, so we issued an RFP both in 2004
and again in 2006 to cover our basel oad needs. The
responses to that -- to both those RFPs were
m ni mal, but about 50 percent of the responses did
come from-- fromIPPs, so we did test that market.
But, again, none of those -- none of those actually
mat ched what we were | ooking for for basel oad
requi rements.

In addition to issuing two RFPs, we al so
participated in the Lignite Vision 21 Program The
Lignite Vision 21 Programis an unprecedented
partnership between the State of North Dakota and

i ndi vidual wutilities. There were four individual
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entities that asked for funding in the Vision 21
Program One of those four was Westnorel and Coal
who was | ooking at exactly the same site that we
identified, which was Gascoyne, North Dakot a. The
| ndustrial Comm ssion asked us to investigate
Gascoyne with Westmorel and, which we eventually
did. Our initial studies for that site were for a
500 megawatt lignite-fired m ne mouth unit.

Knowi ng that MDU coul d not take the
compl ete 500 megawatts off that unit, both
West nor el and and MDU visited a nunmber of regional
utilities throughout the MAPP region at that time
trying to identify partners that would take some of
the 500 nmegawatt wunit. Bei ng unable to identify
any partners because of transm ssion issues and
ot her issues at the site, we eventually reduced the
size to 250 megawatts and then -- to test whether
econonmy of scale would have a |l arge inmpact on that
uni t . Seeing that it was somewhat significant, and
still 250 megawatts at that point was nore than MDU
could take by itself, we again reduced the size to
175 megawatts and investigated it further. The 175
megawatts in comparison to sone of the other
options we had reflected that we had | ost the

economy of scale at that size. So there was no
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cost -- it was no |longer cost-effective conmpared to
participation in Big Stone I1.

However, the information we gathered from
the two RFPs in addition to individua
conversations with independent power producers that
came to our table and our experience in the Lignite
Vision 21, that information was utilized to
generate base information that was given to PA
Consulting for themto evaluate the opti mal
resource plan for MDU. That being said, their
investigation, | think as you heard earlier,
determ ned that Big Stone Il was indeed the | owest
cost basel oad resource expansion option for MU
And that concludes my summary.

Q M. Steen, | would |like to cover a few
t hi ngs that have come up during the course of the
hearing that you may have some background on, but,
first, could you provide us a little bit nore
information about the responses to the RFPs, why
they weren't able to meet MDU s needs at the tinme?

A The initial RFP that was issued in 2004,
we had three respondents. Our RFP was for
somewhere between 70 and 100 megawatts of basel oad,
is what we were | ooking for at that time in 2004.

None of the respondents were able to give us any
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more than 50 megawatts and generally it was
gas-fired at that point. Most of the contracts
were also for short durations, no |onger than five
years.

Q. And then the second RFP.

A In the second RFP in 2006 there was only
two respondents. One of them was for, again, the
250 megawatt gas-fired unit, which MDU would be
responsi ble for taking the entire output which
didn't match our need. 250 nmegawatts was more than
we needed. The second response was indeed from a

coal-fired unit in south central North Dakot a,

whi ch we continued -- or south central United
States -- excuse me -- which we continued to
moni t or. However, that is a 750-megawatt

coal -fired unit of which we would take whatever
pi ece of that we wanted. However, the bal ance of

the unit has not been subscri bed to date.

Q So at this point it may or may not go
forward?
A. So at this point it may or may not go

forward. As far as | know, they do not have any of
their permts in place.
Q Can you give the Comm ssion a little bit

of background in terms of what went into the
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determ nation by Montana-Dakota to subscribe to 19

and a third percent of the Big Stone Il Plant?
A. Sur e. Upon being invited to participate
in Big Stone |1, it was a business decision at that

point to have a number of partners take an equal
amount of the unit to -- because there was seven
partners, it was a huge undertaking, and we wanted
to -- to have at |east four of the partners have
equal participation, and our 19 percent was indeed
| ess than our projected need for basel oad at that
point in time. 119 -- the 116 negawatts we were
going to get off the unit would only give us
surplus for one year. In 2012 we woul d again be
deficit.

Q But couldn't you have taken a smaller
pi ece and then | ooked for another plant as it come
al ong?

A. We absolutely could have taken a small er
pi ece, for exanple, 50 megawatts or 25 megawatts.
However, our forecast at that time was that we
needed at | east 120 megawatts, and these projects
do not conme along every day. As you remenber, our
participation in Coyote was in, | think, 1981 and
not hi ng has been built since then, so these do not

come al ong every day, so we needed to cover
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ourselves for at least up to the time that the unit
was built and, hopefully, would have enough for a
little bit into the future.

Q There was a question, | believe, that was
rai sed about the ampunt of wi nd that could possibly
be built in MDU s footprint and added to and al so a
separate question how much could be added to MDU s
system Do you have any opinions on either of
t hose two questions, M. Steen?

A. Yes, | do. W've been involved in w nd
generation for a long tinme. Our history with w nd
is back into the 1980s. | think you heard
testinony earlier that MDU was the first utility in
North Dakota to sign a PPA with a wi nd devel oper,
but that project never come to fruition. So we
have been nmonitoring wind for a long tinme.

I n our model that we utilized with | ooking
at PA's model, | guess referring to M. Heidell's
testi nony yesterday, you heard that we had 60
megawatts in that nodel. A year ago when we ran
t hat nodel, we indeed had one signed contract for
31.5 megawatts, a wind farmin South Dakota, again,
whi ch never was built, but at the time the nmodel
was generated we knew we had to sign a contract, so

we i nput that into the model. We also input into
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t he model our renewable portfolio objective in the
State of Montana, which basically was 20 megawatts
in 2010 and an additional 10 megawatts in 2014. So
our model utilized 60 megawatts.

Now, whet her or not that could have been
built will really depend upon the queue process in
M SO. The only way we would know whet her or not
that will actually fit into our systemis get in
t he queue with M SO and then start doing the
transm ssion studies. So whether or not an
addi ti onal hundred megawatts will fit on our system
or 200 megawatts will fit on our system we won't
know until we actually get in the queue with M SO.

Generally the M SO queue transm ssion nodeling is

somewhere between $250, 000 and a mllion-dollar
venture.

Q So you are in the queue for the Montana
project?

A We are in the queue for the Montana
proj ect.

Q And once that's conmplete, what's the plan?

A. We are also in the queue for the South
Dakota 30 negawatts -- pardon nme. Can you - -

Q But, | nmean, after the Montana project is

built, what is Montana-Dakota's thoughts wth
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respect to additional w nd?

A. Okay. We are currently internally doing
rat epayer inmpact tests for -- to meet the North
Dakota renewabl e portfolio objective.

Q When the AVS -- when you knew the AVS
contract was going to expire in '06, was w nd
| ooked at as a replacement for that particul ar
contract?

A When we knew t he AVS contract was going to
expire, wi nd was not | ooked at as replacement for
basel oad. In the -- in the M SO system we have to
have accreditable capacity. Wnd only -- at this
point in time in the M SO system wind only gets a
20 percent accreditable capacity factor. So in
order to replace 60 megawatts of basel oad, one
woul d have to install at |east 300-plus megawatts

of wind in order to get the same accreditability.

Q Wel |, basel oad or any capacity?
A. Basel oad or any capacity.
Q If you want -- any capacity that you want

to provide with wind would basically take about a

one-fifth of what you have?

A. That woul d be correct.
Q There was also, | believe, a question or a
comment, | believe it was from Comm ssi oner Wefal d,
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about whet her or not Montana- Dakota could use its
exi sting gas turbines as backup for wi nd. Do you
have any coments on that?

A The existing gas turbines we have are
al ready accredited in the MAPP system | think in
order to back up wind, generally you would put
addi ti onal gas generation on to get that
accreditation.

Q To get any additional capacity?

A. To get any additional accreditation.

Q And then, finally, M. Steen, there was
some discussion about whether the plant
partici pants should be | ooking at an ultra
supercritical plant versus a supercritical plant.
Can you provide any opinions on that issue?

A | can. As you heard M. Rol fes indicate,
there are about 15 ultra supercritical units
operating with -- and the incremental cost for an
ultra supercritical is some 2 to 5-plus mllion
dollars. As he indicated, we, as owners, do not
know at this point what that total incremental cost
m ght be. It could very well be 5 mllion, it
could very well be 10 mllion, it could very well
be 15 mllion. W don't know.

Most of the 15 units that are currently
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operating are |located in Japan, which has a very
hi gh fuel delivery cost, and that m ght have driven
their decision to go to ultra supercritical. I n
addition, these plants in Japan were not
manufactured using U.S. technol ogy or U.S.
manuf acturers. So not all U.S. manufacturers have
an ultra supercritical plant that they have built.
Most of them have ultra supercritical options that
t hey have on paper, but none of them have been
built.

I n addition, the plants in Japan do not

have an extended operational time period. These

are not -- these boilers are not your father's
boiler. They do not have |l ong-term operationa
experience. The analogy | like to use internally

is that Toyota manufactures the Prius, not that GM
couldn't build one and GM m ght have on the shelf,
a paper one, but they could build one. Okay. But
even the Prius doesn't have 100 or 150,000-mle
operating experience. And those are some of the
t hi ngs we have to | ook at as we | ook at the ultra
supercritical decision.

Q So nobody has really got a |l ong operating
history with those extra operating pressures and

temperatures and the effect on the plant
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conponent s?

A That would be correct. And that's one of
the nice things about being involved in the Big
Stone project where you have seven co-owners. Each
one of the seven co-owners are an experienced
utility that bring a | ot of experience to the
table, and so we are indeed as a group | ooking at
ultra supercritical

Q But the decision has not been made?

A But the decision has not been made.

Q | just want to back up to the begi nning of
your answer . | was a little confused because |
t hought you said first it was 2 to 5 mllion and

then you said it was sonewhere between 5 and 15.

A Well, | guess the point being we have
i ndications that it could be 2 mllion, we have
indications that it could be 5 mllion, we also
have indications that it could be 10 mllion. So

we do not know what the price for the ultra
supercritical -- total price m ght be.

MR. KUNTZ: That's all the questions |
have for M. Steen and | would tender himfor
Cross-exam nati on.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Breen.
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CROSS- EXAM NATI ON

BY MR. BREEN:

Q Sir, correct me if I'mwong about this
statement. | thought | heard in your testinony the
co-owners of the Big Stone Il project reached an

agreement to build the Big Stone project sonmetinme
in 20057

A The -- the group of co-owners came
t ogether to discuss building Big Stone in 2004, |
think, initially and that jelled in 2005.

Q In 2005 it was formalized in a letter of
agreement of some sort?

A. That's correct.

Q Now, the PA analysis you referred to did
not consider the issue of environmental cost for
carbon dioxide; isn't that true?

A That woul d be correct.

Q And you didn't consider the issue of

environnmental cost for carbon dioxide; is that

true?
A That woul d be correct.
Q And when you subm tted this evaluation

before the proceedings in M nnesota and South
Dakota, you and PA did consider the issue of

environmental cost in your evaluations; is that
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correct?
A. Could you -- could you restate that again?
Q "1l break it up. When yourself and the
PA anal ysis group -- consulting group considered

presenting this testinony before the proceedings in
M nnesota you did consider the issue of
environmental cost?

A. | did not testify in M nnesot a.

Q Oh, you did not?

A No, | did not.
Q When you and your consultant did an
evaluation to determne if Big Stone Il was the

| east-cost alternative anmongst your choices, you
and your consultants did not consider the issue of
environmental cost for carbon dioxide; do we agree?
A. | don't know. My position is one to give
information to PA so that they can do their
model i ng.
MR. BREEN: | have no ot her questions.
JUDGE WAHL: M. Bi nek.
CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY MR. BI NEK:
Q M. Steen, on page 4 of your direct
testinmony you talk about the proposals and in your

summary you had tal ked about the proposal from
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| owa. | guess | would like a little bit of
clarification of what the situation is with that
plant in lowa. Apparently you're still |ooking at
t hat plant as a possibility for providing your
needs?

A. We are still monitoring that plant as a
possibility.
Q Okay. And there has been no firm

comm tment to participation in the Big Stone

project; is that correct?
A We have not gone through financial close,
if that's your question -- answer to your question.
Q Ri ght. Yes. I n your testimony, | believe

it was on page 8, you talk about Big Stone 11
remai ni ng the | owest option for MDU and that it
al so confirms Mont ana-Dakota's plan to use demand
si de managenent, renewabl e energy sources and ot her
resources along with that plant to meet your needs.
What are the other resources you're referring to
besi des demand si de management and renewabl e energy
resources?

A We have signed some confidentiality
agreements, but you should be aware that wind is
not the only source of renewable credits.

Q Okay. So the other sources you're talKking
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about are other renewabl es?
A. We're | ooking at other renewabl e options.
MR. Bl NEK: | have no further questions.
JUDGE WAHL: Questions fromthe
Comm ssion. Comm ssioner Wefald.
MR. BI NEK: Excuse nme. | do have one
addi ti onal one.
JUDGE WAHL: Al'l right.
Q (MR. BI NEK CONTI NUI NG) And that's

relating to the Gascoyne plant. And ny question is

t he same question that | asked Andrea yesterday,
and that is whether Gascoyne -- | realize it's not
a viable option at this point. | s Gascoyne a

vi abl e option in the future, in your opinion?
A My opinion is that Gascoyne is indeed a
vi abl e option. | "' m probably the best cheerl eader
for Gascoyne there is.
MR. BI NEK: Thank you. | have no further
guesti ons.
JUDGE WAHL: Comm ssioner Wefald.
EXAM NATI ON
BY COMM SSI ONER WEFALD:
Q Good nor ni ng.
A. Good nor ni ng.

Q MDU has had some really -- MDU has had
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some really unfortunate experiences as it's

attempted to purchase wi nd.

A That's correct. That's correct.
Q Every project you seemto pick fails, so
feel sorry for the Montana project. That's the

truth. We think of the ones you've announced to
us, every single one has failed that you've told us

t hat you' ve signed an agreenment for, so --

A Questionably, that's one of the reasons
why we wanted to sel f-build. It's a self-build
option.

Q | was wondering, did you ever consider the

PPM project in northern North Dakota, which is

adj acent to your service territory, that offered --
has still offered 150 megawatts of w nd and has
gone through the whole queue process with M SO?

A. We are | ooking -- we are | ooking at that
project as one of the possibilities to satisfy our
Nort h Dakota renewabl e objective.

Q Have you | ooked at it in the past?

A. We did not |look at it to meet the Montana
renewabl e portfolio standard. As far as in the
past, yes, we have -- we have met with them
i ndi vidually.

Q Thank you. How or woul d the conpany




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

640

participate in the Big Stone Il project if the
Comm ssion determned it would be prudent to allow
MDU to purchase, let's say, 90 megawatts of energy
and capacity fromthe Big Stone project and with
t he remai nder of | oad requirement and demand met
t hrough demand -- excuse me -- and the requirement
of load requirement nmet through demand side
management and renewabl es?

A How woul d we participate, is that your

guestion?

Q How woul d the company participate?
A | think you have to understand that we
have done an extensive expansion of our -- of our

demand si de management at this point and put that
into the nodel, and the nodel still picks 116

megawatts of Big Stone.

Q | understand that.

A. Okay.

Q | understand that. How or woul d the
company participate in the Big Stone Il project if

t he Comm ssion determned it would be prudent to
allow MDU to purchase, let's say, for example, 90
megawatts of energy and capacity instead of the
116?

A | guess as a policymaker, |'m not the
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policymaker for the company, so | would have to
just assume that we would participate with 90
megawatts.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Thank you.
JUDGE WAHL: Any further questions from
t he Comm ssion? Comm ssioner Clark.
EXAM NATI ON
BY COWMM SSI ONER CLARK:

Q Just a couple on Gascoyne versus Big Stone
Il so |I understand the tinmeline and the procedure.
You had said that when MDU | ooked at Gascoyne as a
250 megawatt unit, you thought that it perhaps --
it was still in the ballpark, it passed the snmell
test, you lost some efficiencies, but not as nmuch
as you |l ost when you went to 175 and it became
unvi able; is that right?

A That woul d be correct.

Q Okay. At the point that it was
potentially a 250 megawatt project, was Otter Tail
included in discussions? Because it occurs to ne
here that we have, exclusive all those M nnesota
utilities that want to participate in Big Stone,
two utilities whose megawatts you're going to be
drawi ng off it roughly equates to 250 megawatts.

Were you able to conpare Big Stone Il at 250, Otter
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Tail and MDU participating in it with Gascoyne --
' m sorry. | didn't say that right -- Gascoyne at
250, Otter Tail and MDU participating in it versus
Big Stone 117

A. As far as | know, we did not run the
generation capacity expansion model utilizing the
Gascoyne unit at 250 as one option versus Big Stone
Il as one of the other options. | don't think we
ever did that. You should be aware, however, that
| personally believe that Big Stone Il would
probably still come out because -- because at the
250 -- even at the 250 negawatt |evel, and we chose
t hat specifically because the options for boilers
range up to 250 megawatts. The 500 megawatt unit
had to have two separate boilers, and that's one of
the reasons why it drove the cost up. You know,
even at 500 megawatts, the capital cost at Gascoyne
is significantly nore than the capital cost at Big
Stone I1.

Q Ri ght. Although one of the things that I
think is becom ng clear through this process is we
have to consider not just capital cost, but
delivered cost to consumers, which would be
inclusive of the delivered cost of fuel. When you

said probably Big Stone Il would come ahead, is
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that -- does that take into account -- how do | ask
it -- are you assum ng that the cost of fuel is
going to be a 2-and-a-half percent increase roughly
a year at Big Stone I17?

A. And we assumed that same inflation rate at
Gascoyne.

Q Okay. The Montana wind farm help ne
understand this a little bit, walk through it a
[ittle bit. This may come up sonmewhere el se not
necessarily in this case. The rationale for
buil ding that one in particular, what need does it
fill froman engi neering standpoint, from an
i ntegrated resource standpoint versus what need
does it fill to meet a statutory requirement in
Mont ana? | n other words, if you just ran the
model -- your |IRP planning process, would that be
one that would get picked barring the mandate in
Mont ana?

A In an integrated resource nodel or in a
gener ation expansion program generally wind wl
not get picked as the | ow cost option.

Consequently, the way -- the way that wind is being
presented in these models is it's being forced in.
It's essentially a must-run unit. It's forced into

the model. The sanme thing occurred when we did the




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

644
model with the 30 megawatts from the South Dakota
project, that was forced in, it was a must-run.
And the same thing in the model with the Montana,
it was forced in as a must-run unit.

Q Okay.

A. Generally it will not pick wind as the
| east -cost option.

COMM SSI ONER CLARK: Thank you. That's
all | have.
COVMM SSI ONER WEFALD: | have one.
JUDGE WAHL: Comm ssioner Wefald.
FURTHER EXAM NATI ON
BY COMM SSI ONER WEFALD:

Q It's on that same topic. \What was the
forced -- what made it forced in for 30 megawatts
in South Dakota?

A Well, we had a contract. We had a
contract with the wind devel oper.

Q What made you -- what made you decide to
put that contract in then? You said it was a
forced in. Why did you force it into the model ?
Why did you force in 30 megawatts then if you
didn't --

COVMM SSI ONER CRAMER: Why did you even

consider it?
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Q ( COMM SSI ONER WEFALD CONTI NUI NG) Wy did
you even consider it then in South Dakota?

A Well, the --

Q Did they tell you you had to build 30
megawatts of wind there as part of your deal wth
the Big Stone Plant? |Is that part of it? | mean,
is that the forcing |like with Montana, the 10 --
the 15 megawatts there because they have the
mandate to have wind? You know, is that the
reason? |s that what you mean by "forcing it in"?

A No. No. | guess what | mean by forcing
it inis, the generation expansion nodel has to
include all of the knowns at the time you run the
model to push the start button on how. And those
knowns are your existing units, which are Heskett
|, Heskett Il, Lewis & Clark. Those units are also
put into the model as well as any knowns, such as a
purchased power agreenment with Basin Electric or a
purchased power agreement with a wi nd devel oper.
Those are put into the nodel. And if you have a
purchased power agreenment with Basin where Basin
says you nust take the energy off of this unit, the
model forces that in and says on a dispatch region
this energy has to come from Basin Electric, and

it's the same thing with wi nd. It says this amount
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of energy has to come fromthat contract, so it's
forced into the nodel. So the model doesn't pick
it -- doesn't have the option of picking it. It's
forced into the model.

Q So you're saying that M. -- yesterday
when we had the testimny, and he was here at that
time but he's not here now any | onger, his analysis
from his conmpany, his study showed 50 or 60
megawatts of wind in his -- in his plan for MU
resources?

A Okay. | don't know about how he set up
t he nodel -- his nodel.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Thank you.

THE W TNESS: | can't respond how he did
t hat .

JUDGE WAHL: Comm ssioner Craner.

MR. KUNTZ: Just a -- before you were
tal king about M. Heidell, weren't you,
Comm ssioner Wefald? |'m not sure the two of you
were on the same page.

COMM SSI ONER CRAMER: Yeah, | wasn't sure,
ei ther.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: s it M. Heidell
or --

MR. KUNTZ: From PA Consulting?
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COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: PA Consul ting.

MR. KUNTZ: Ri ght .

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: VWhat name did | use?

MR. KUNTZ: You didn't have a name and |
t hink --

THE W TNESS: Okay. | was thinking of M.
Schl i ssel when you said his nodel.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: No, | was talKking
about M. Heidell.

THE W TNESS: Okay. Can you restate your
guesti on again, please?

Q (COWM SSI ONER WEFALD CONTI NUI NG) M.

Hei del | had 50 megawatts of wind in his model --

A. That's right. That's correct.

Q -- that he canme with to MDU and he said
this is your nodel.

A That's right. Yes. His 50 megawatts that
he put in his nodel were known wi nd projects that
we had on our system -- that we thought we woul d
have on our systemin 2012. Those known wi nd
projects for 50 megawatts were 30 megawatts in
Sout h Dakota with a PPA and 20 megawatts in
Mont ana.

Q But you're telling me that the resource

model you used would never choose wi nd unless there
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A. Unl ess you force it in.

Q Unl ess you force it in.

A | believe that's true.

Q And why do you -- well, | should have
ed -- been able to ask M. Heidell that, but I

can't, because we're seeing wind comng in at much

cheaper costs these days than it did before and

wi t
we'

pi c

h the -- and with the production tax credit
re finally seeing that other utilities are

king it as their |east-cost resource. So, you

know, it's just interesting that your model doesn't

put

wi n

pri

it in at all, never would put it in.

A. Well, | guess | respectfully disagree that
d is comng in cheaper. W've seen the sane
ce increases in wi nd because of the copper and

the steel that we have seen in other generation

res

wor

of

ources, so wind is getting -- wind is expensive.
COVM SSI ONER CLARK: Does wi nd sonmeti mes

k, though, as a -- as a peaking resource? A |ot

what |'ve heard is that that's often where it

seems to fit because it kicks off natural gas that

woul d ot herwi se run and that's where you get sone

of

i nt

the econom es of wi nd. | s that incorporated

o the nmodel, or how does that --
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THE W TNESS: It can -- it can if your
utility is really dependent on natural gas to cover
its peak. In MDU s system we do have natural gas

to cover our peak, but our peak is for a very short
time period in the summertime. We're a
summer - peaking utility. You know, a hot, hot day
in July we would generally start up a conbustion
turbine to cover that peak. And generally on those
days the wind is not bl ow ng. | wish it were.

COMM SSI ONER CLARK: Does wind tend to do
well also paired with highly dispatchable firm
hydro where hydro is sort of the backbone and then
again wind is the variable resource?

THE W TNESS: My personal observation is
that's the best backup for wi nd, is hydro.

COMM SSI ONER CLARK: But you're telling us
that on MDU s system it doesn't seemto fit that
profile?

THE W TNESS: MDU, it does not fit that
profile.

Q ( COMM SSI ONER WEFALD CONTI NUI NG) \Why t hen
can't -- if you only use those gas conmbustion
generators that you're invested in and they're
sitting there all year |ong and you use them for a

coupl e hours a year, why then wouldn't it be a
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better use of resources to have wind pair up with
t hose so that you could be using them throughout
the year and create a basel oad resource?

A. Generally wi nd, because it's
nondi spatchable, will -- will offset coal, is
really what happens.

Q But systems all across the country are
using it for offsetting natural gas because the

price is so much higher.

A. If they have a | ot of natural gas on their
system

Q But you have 110 nmegawatts. That's --

A. But we don't operate it very often, only

when M SO call s. Only when M SO calls now.
COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Thank you.
JUDGE WAHL: Anything further fromthe
Conmmi ssion?
COMM SSI ONER CRAMER: Yes.
JUDGE WAHL: Comm ssioner Cramer.
EXAM NATI ON
BY COMM SSI ONER CRAMER:
Q | want to get back, | think, to clarify --
wel |, at |east a question that popped into my m nd
when Comm ssioner Wefald was asking you about why

t he South Dakota deal. Model aside, conpletely
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understand you have to force it in to make -- you
know, to make it work, what was the inmpetus or what
was the driver to considering 31-and-a-half
megawatts i n South Dakota?

A. The 31-and-a-half megawatts in South
Dakota came about because of the PURPA
requi rements.

Q Oh, that's right.

A It actually went in as a qualifying
facility before the Comm ssi on.

Q When exactly did MDU know for certain that
t he AVS contract would not be extended?

A. | wasn't directly involved in that, but |
was i nvolved fromthe standpoint that | knew we
tried numerous times to get that contract extended.

The exact date when, you know, we were notified

that it would be no longer an option, | am not
sure.
Q Was it a year ago, two years ago?
A. It was shortly before the contract
expired -- real short. W're talking nonths before

the contract expired.
Q | think one of the frustrations that [|'ve
had in -- not just in this, but overall with

utilities is not very good planning. Now,
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realize it's not a sinple thing and | realize when
you're tal king about billions, not mllions, it's
really not a sinmple thing, but just hearing your
answer saying we tried numerous times causes nme to
wonder, at what point even prior to the certainty
of months prior, shortly prior to the contract
endi ng, did you have a pretty good indication that
this probably wasn't going to happen? Because |
get the sense that somebody was hoping for
somet hing that wasn't very likely.

A. Well, | think you're probably correct in
that we're eternal optimsts. From t he standpoi nt
that -- and the other part of that is that we're
al ways | ooking for the cheapest solution, you know,
shoul d we make a cheap solution decision today,
what happens if something comes cheaper tomorrow?
So | think we're always | ooking for the cheapest
solution. And these power plant opportunities |ike
Big Stone Il don't come along very often. You
know, | think you know that we're involved with the
MIlton R. Young IlIl, which is quite a ways into the
future, 2015, but that's a long -- you have to have
t hat ten-year wi ndow to get these |arge coal units
built.

Q Then, finally, and | don't know how
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relevant this is, but it's interesting to me given
t he Gascoyne discussions. Were you aware that
West nor el and had an air permt hearing yesterday on
Gascoyne here in the Capitol?

A | was aware that Westnoreland was here at
t he Capitol. | was not aware that it was for an
air permt hearing.

COWMM SSI ONER CRAMER: | have nothing el se.
JUDGE WAHL: Anything further fromthe
Comm ssion? M. Kuntz.
MR. KUNTZ: Thank you.
REDI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY MR. KUNTZ:

Q M. Steen, in response to Comm ssioner
Wefald's question that if the Conm ssion were to
determ ne only 90 megawatts of the plant were
prudent from MDU s standpoint and assum ng that NMDU
coul d back down its participation in Big Stone
Il -- do you know if, indeed, that's a fact, that
Mont ana- Dakota woul d be all owed to back down its
participation in Big Stone 117?

A | do not know that MDU woul d be allowed to
back down.

Q Assumng it could, if | understood your

testinmony correctly, that would mean that the
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company woul d have to make up about -- find about
26 extra megawatts in order to have capacity
avai |l abl e by that 2012 time frame; is that correct?

A That woul d be correct.

Q Do you believe that in addition to the DSM
t hat the conmpany has already included in M.

Hei del | 's model plus what it already has in place
or on the boards, that you could make up that 26

megawatt deficit through additional DSM over and

above that on your systent

A. | am not the DSM expert, but | know from
conversations that there is concern about DSM
penetration in our North Dakota consumers.

Q So if you weren't able to do it through
DSM what would be your nmost |ikely next option if
you couldn't do it through Big Stone [17?

A. Our next nmost |ikely option would be

natural gas-fired combustion turbines.

Q I n combination with w nd?
A. Very possibly in a combination with w nd.
Because we do plan on achieving if -- if it's best

for our custonmers in North Dakota renewabl e
portfolio objective.
Q Based upon your studies and analysis, M.

Steen, how does the conmparison of a capacity
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megawatt for megawatt of a wind CT gas turbine
conpare with the cost of Big Stone I17?

A | know from experience in our Montana wi nd
project that wind is approxi mately, rough nunbers,
$2,000 a kilowatt. To back that one kilowatt up,

t hi nk you heard testimony yesterday from M.

Hei del | that a gas turbine is about $900 a
kilowatt. So the conbination of the two, add the
two together, 2,000 plus 900, is about $2,900 a
kilowatt. That's as expensive or maybe a little

bit more expensive than Big Stone.

Q And you' d have to add transm ssion for
that, as well, then?
A. All those scenarios would have to have

transm ssion, that would be correct.

Q And just so the record is clear, when you
say that you have to force in wind into the model,
you're basically telling the nodel to assune a
certain amunt of w nd?

A. That woul d be correct. By forcing it in,
' m saying you set the nodel up so that it says so
much of the energy required for our custonmers has
to come fromthis source.

Q So it doesn't have the option of picking

or not picking it?
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A It does not have the option of picking or
not picking, it's forced in, correct.
MR. KUNTZ: That's all the questions |
have.
JUDGE WAHL: M. Breen or Ms. La Seur.
MS. LA SEUR: Yes. Thank you.
RECROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY MS. LA SEUR
Q Good norning, M. Steen.
A. Good nor ni ng.
Q Does every megawatt of wi nd have to be

backed up by natural gas?

A. Does every nmegawatt of wi nd have to
Q Every single megawatt, so you would have

to have a one-to-one purchase?

A No.
Q So there's a -- what is the capacity of
wi nd that would -- out of every hundred megawatts,

what is the capacity that would not have to be
backed up?

A. Well, looking at it strictly fromthe
capacity side in the M SO system you only get a 20
percent credit for wind, so that 20 percent of that
one megawatt -- or 20 percent of that one megawatt -

hour woul d not have to be backed up. So it's a
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relatively small percentage. And, of course, that
20 percent is a given for the first couple years
that the wind farmis on |line. | f you happen to
sel ect a poor resource area, that can go
consi derably |l ess than 20 percent.

Q Okay.

A So it mght drop to 15. So 15 percent of
t hat megawatt probably can be covered, but the
ot her -- the other 85 percent has to be covered by
nat ural gas.

Q So if we accept your numbers for $2,000
per -- what is that, kilowatt installed?

A $2,000 a kilowatt, that would be correct.

Q And 900 for natural gas. And it's a
little under that $2,900 number?

A. Yeah. You could probably take 85 percent
of that $2,000, whatever that nunber is.

Q Okay. Thank you. Has MDU | ooked at
buying into M dAmerican Energy Conpany's current
permtted 545 megawatts in western |owa?

A l'mnot famliar with that, no.

Q Are you famliar with the current price of
renewabl e energy credits on the Chicago Climte
Exchange?

A. | am not -- | have not | ooked today.
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Q Are you famliar with the current price of

carbon sequestration credits on the Chicago Climate

Exchange?
A | guess | would admt | have never | ooked.
Q It's very interesting. The 750 megawatt

plant in lowa hasn't yet begun its permt

applications; is that right?

A. That's what | believe.

Q And what coal does that plant propose to
burn?

A. As | understand and the information
t hey' ve given us on that, it would be Powder River
Basi n.

Q Has the Gascoyne 500 begun its permt
applications?

A. The Gascoyne 500 did not start any of the
permt applications.

Q And has MDU quantified the exact
transm ssion costs for either Coyote or Gascoyne?

A. Quantified, meaning if we were to have an
expansi on at Coyote versus Gascoyne?

Q Ri ght .

A We have not quantified exactly those
transm ssion costs.

Q When you model the |east-cost option, does




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

659

t hat include projected fuel costs for the life of
t he plant?
A It does.
MS. LA SEUR: Thank you. Not hi ng further.
JUDGE WAHL: M. Bi nek.
MR. BI NEK: Thank you
RECROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY MR. BI NEK:
Q M . Steen, how often does M SO require you
to start your gas turbines?
A. That -- I'min -- you know, | ooking at

expansion - -
units | have
do know t hey
hours a year

MR.

guesti ons.

JUDGE WAHL:

gener ation expansion

very Iimted know edge of

run some -- maybe two,
on average.
Bl NEK: Thank you

Any further

the Comm ssion?

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: No.

JUDGE WAHL:

COVMM SSI ONER WEFALD:

comment or

JUDGE WAHL:

guesti on.

Al'l right.

Oh ’

Comm ssi oner

S0 existing

t hat . But |

t hree hundred

No further

questions from

| have one

It's probably both.

Wef al d.
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FURTHER EXAM NATI ON
BY COMM SSI ONER WEFALD:

Q You said that you're not certain whether
your customers in Montana-Dakota Utilities would be
interested in any demand side managenment options?

A. No. | said | didn't know if there -- that
t hey could achieve the penetration |evels required

for some of the options.

Q How wi Il you know that until you offer
t hent?

A. Even if they're offered, | don't know how
you woul d know whet her they -- that's one of the

problems with demand side management, as |
understand it, is how do you quantify it.

Q Well, doesn't part of it -- isn't part of
it how attractive the offer is? Just to give an
exampl e, some utilities have offered green pricing
options to their customers.

A. Li ke we did.

Q Li ke you did. And |lots of people took
them MDU offered them and no one -- almst no one
signed up. Maybe the factor was the price that you
put on that green pricing option. | mean, maybe
ot her places they offered it a |l ower rate or maybe

it was the same or whatever. So perhaps part of it
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is the -- just like it is if you're selling a car
people | ook for the best price. Maybe it has to do
with the terms of the offer.

A. Mr- hnm | would agree with you. I n fact,
| think that's one of the reasons why we have
expanded that program and now have a dedi cated
person responsible to inmplement that program so
t hat he can make those exact judgment calls.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Thank you.

JUDGE WAHL: Any further questions from
t he Comm ssion?

COMM SSI ONER CLARK: No.

COWMM SSI ONER CRAMER: No.

JUDGE WAHL: Anything further?

REDI RECT EXAM NATI ON

BY MR. KUNTZ:

Q | think in response to a question by Ms.
La Seur you wanted to add somet hi ng about
quantifying transm ssion costs at Gascoyne or
Coyot e. Did you have sonme additional follow-up
information on that?

A. No.

MR. KUNTZ: Then we have nothing further.
JUDGE WAHL: Ms. La Seur, anything

further?
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MS. LA SEUR: No. Thank you
JUDGE WAHL.: M. Binek?

MR. Bl NEK: No.

JUDGE WAHL: Thank you very much, M.

St een. Next .

MR. KUNTZ: Mont ana- Dakota woul d call

Mul ker n.

JUDGE WAHL: Ms. Mul kern, as you have

662

Rita

heard me advi se previous wi tnesses, your testinony

is required to be under oath and |I'mrequired by

| aw t o advise you regarding perjury before
adm ni stering the oath. Perjury is a false
statement of material fact which you do not

to be true, in other words, generally speaki

bel i

nga

eve

a

lie. In North Dakota perjury is a Class C fel ony,

puni shable by a fine up to $5, 000, inmprisonnent

a period of up to five years, or both. WII
rai se your right hand, please?

(Wtness sworn.)

JUDGE WAHL: M. Kuntz.

RI TA A, MULKERN,

you

for

being first duly sworn, was exam ned and testified

as foll ows:

DI RECT EXAM NATI ON

BY MR. KUNTZ:
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Q State your nane and busi ness address.

A. My name is Rita A. Mul kern, and ny
busi ness address is 400 North Fourth Street,
Bi smarck, North Dakota 58501.

Q Whom are you enpl oyed by?

A. | am enmpl oyed by Mont ana-Dakota Utilities.

Q And what's your position with
Mont ana- Dakot a?

A. | am the regul atory anal ysis manager for
Mont ana- Dakot a.

Q And what are your responsibilities
included in that position?

A Anmong nmy responsibilities are doing cost
of service studies. ' mresponsi ble for the fue
cost adjustnents and the purchased gas cost

adjustnments now in the states that Montana- Dakota

serves.
Q What's your educational background?
A. | have a bachel or of arts degree from

North Dakota State University with majors in
econom cs and business adm nistration and a m nor
in statistics.
Q What's your work experience background?
A. | began working at Montana-Dakota in 1981

in the regulatory affairs area and have progressed
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t hrough that department, and | believe | assuned ny
current position in 1999.

Q Have you caused to be prepared prefiled
direct testimny, as well as supporting exhibits in
this proceedi ng?

A Yes, | did.

Q "' m showi ng you what should be in front of
you mar ked as Exhi bits MDU-206, 207 and 208, with
Exhi bit 206 being your prefiled direct testi nony
and 207 and 208 being supporting exhibits. Are
t hose numbers?

A. Yes.

Q And that is your prefiled direct testi nony
and exhi bits?

A. Yes.

Q Do you have any corrections or additions,
changes to make to that testimny?

A | do not.

Q If I were to ask you the questions that
appear in Exhibit 206 today, would your answers be
the same as appears in that exhibit?

A They woul d.

MR. KUNTZ: We would offer Exhibits MDU-
206, 207 and 208 into evidence.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Breen.
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MR. BREEN: No obj ection

JUDGE WAHL: M. Bi nek.

MR. Bl NEK: No obj ection

JUDGE WAHL: MDU Exhi bits 206, 207 and 208
are each received.

MR. KUNTZ: Thank you, Your Honor.

Q (MR. KUNTZ CONTI NUI NG) Ms. Mul kern, could
you give the Comm ssion a summary of your
testi nony, please?

A. Yes, | will. The purpose of my testinmony
is to present an overall revenue requirenment for
our North Dakota share of the Big Stone Il Power
Pl ant .

As testified by M. Rolfes in his direct
testinmony, the capital cost of Big Stone Il is
projected to be about 1.6 billion dollars.

Mont ana- Dakota's participation in Big Stone is
approximately 19.33 percent of the total and its
share of the investment is approximtely 309
mllion dollars.

Generation facilities are allocated to the
jurisdictions on the basis of the sum of the 12
mont hly peak demands by jurisdiction. Nort h Dakot a
customers contribute 68.53 percent of annual peak

demand. Therefore, the North Dakota all ocated
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share is 212 mllion, which represents 68.5 percent
-- 68.53 percent of Montana-Dakota's investnent.
Utimtely the inclusion allows for funds used
during construction or construction work in
progress, would add 18.8 percent or 6.6 percent,
respectively, to the cost of the plant.

The estimated revenue requirement of the
Big Stone Il Plant exclusive -- reflecting only the
i nvest ment, exclusive of any operation and
mai nt enance expenses, depreciation expense, ad
val orem t axes, and effects of fuel and purchased
power is 1.87 cents per kilowatt-hour for North
Dakota customers. And | just want to clarify that
is the effect of the capital cost. What |I'mtrying
to do in ny testimony basically is define the
bal | par k. And there will be other -- at the time
we come in -- we're not requesting any change of
rates in this proceeding. Any new request for a
change in rates would be in a separate proceeding,
and at that time we would take into account all the
factors that affect the price of electricity or the
price of the generation at the Big Stone Il Station
and they would be quantified at that tinme.

That, | believe, concludes nmy summary of

my testinmony.




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

667

Q So, Ms. Mulkern, if | understand your | ast

comment then, the nunmber that you gave -- what was
it, 1 point --

A 1. 87 cents.

Q -- 87 cents doesn't necessarily transfer

into the amount of the rate increase that would be
seen as a result of Big Stone Il comng on line; is

that correct?

A. That is correct.

Q It could be more, could be | ess?

A Coul d be more, could be less. One of the
factors that will affect the rates at the time the

pl ant goes on line is the fact that we are
purchasing power fromthe M SO market and we

anticipate that when Big Stone goes on |ine, we

will see a reduction in our fuel costs. So we're
going to have a cost of capital, we'll have sonme
depreciation, some O & M, but we also will see a

reduction in fuel costs. And so at this tine it's
really not possible to quantify what the effect
will be at the time rates go into effect.

Q And Big Stone II, being -- having the
| atest technol ogy, would expect to be froma fuel
-- or an energy standpoint be a relatively

efficient plant in terms of cost of the overall
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power the conpany uses?

A From what | understand, it will be nmore
efficient, it will use less fuel, which would --
| ess fuel means | ower fuel costs even, you know,
considering that the price may be higher than
t oday.

Q But it m ght replace nmore expensive
alternatives that would be available to
Mont ana- Dakota either within its existing
generation or through the M SO market?

A. That is correct.

MR. KUNTZ: No further questions and we
woul d tender Ms. Mul kern for cross-exam nation.
JUDGE WAHL: M. Breen.
CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY MR. BREEN:
Q It's not possible at the present time for

you to predict with any probability the actual cost

this -- these capital costs will turn into for a
rate increase for the customer; is that correct?

A. | can't quantify at this time the overall
cost change that customers will experience in 2012.

Q Thank you
A. There are many vari abl es other than the

ones | just discussed.
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MR. BREEN: Thank you

JUDGE WAHL: Are you finished, M. Breen?

MR. BREEN: Oh, I'"m sorry. Yes, | am

JUDGE WAHL: M. Bi nek.

MR. BI NEK: | have no questions for this
wi t ness.

JUDGE WAHL: Questions fromthe
Comm ssi on?

COMM SSI ONER CLARK: None.

BY COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: | have one.

JUDGE WAHL: Comm ssi oner Wefald.

EXAM NATI ON

BY COMM SSI ONER WEFALD:

Q It's my understanding that -- did you just
-- let me just ask the question. Did you just say
t hat customers may experience these price increases
in 2012? |Is that your plan?

A. No. We have not decided our plan yet. I
mean, we're not asking for a rate change at this
time, and, as | mentioned, it depends on if we
request construction work in progress or allowance
for funds used during construction. So that's
anot her reason | can't quantify exactly what the
rate change will be.

Q So potentially if the Conmm ssion decides
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it's your

you'd come in for

under st andi ng t hat

a rate increase for

and reasonable to proceed with this,

custonmers?

A. We have not

deci ded what

we will do at

this time.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Thank you.

JUDGE WAHL: Any further questions from

the Comm ssion?

COMM SSI ONER CRAMER: | have none.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Kuntz.

MR. KUNTZ: Not hi ng further.

JUDGE WAHL: Comm ssi oner Wef al d.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: | have a question

for you, sir. s it possible to call M. Steen
back for one nmore question?

JUDGE WAHL: Oh, I'm sure it is.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Okay.

JUDGE WAHL: Thank you very much, Ms.
Mul ker n.

MR. KUNTZ: | told you you should have
went back to the office.

MR. STEEN: | would much rather discuss

with Comm ssioner Wefal d.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Steen, you understand,

course, that your testimony continues under oath

670

probably within a year

it
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and subject to the penalties of perjury?
THE W TNESS: Yes, | do.
JUDGE WAHL: Comm ssioner Wefald.
DUANE STEEN,
havi ng been previously duly sworn, was exam ned and
testified as follows:
FURTHER EXAM NATI ON
By COMM SSI ONER WEFALD:
Q Okay. That's the problem you kind of
think a little bit nore.
A Sur e.
Q |'"m still concerned about and thinking

about these peaking plants that MDU has, the 110

megawatts.

A Yes, ma' am

Q In the proposal before us with the Big
Stone Il project, would you characterize that as

basel oad power or peaking power?

A Big Stone Il will be basel oad.
Q Basel oad. And isn't MDU also planning to
build peaking units -- well, at least | saw in your

resource plan that in around 2014 that there's
pl ans for nore gas turbines to be put on your
system

A. | believe it's farther out than that, but
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| don't -- you know, wi thout having that
information right in front of me, | don't k
| believe that there's additional need for
farther out into the future, that probably
correct.

Q Okay. | saw those dates yesterday
can't find those right now. Okay. The 110
megawatts that you have in gas turbines rig
those are mainly used for peaking; right?

A. That woul d be mainly used for peak

Q So what is the problemwith turnin
of that into baseload? You need basel oad.
could do that by using those plants either
hundred percent, which |I don't think anyone
room would think would be a very good use b
we all know the prices of natural gas. All

A That woul d be correct.

Q But if you built w nd which could
the cost for a portion of the time of those
costs, what's the drawback of doing that wh
al ready have those facilities in place that
be used as basel oad?

A. Well, the existing combustion turb
think, are already in the system and their

is already accounted for.
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Q But that's capacity that is used only at
peak.

A. But it is part of the capacity -- let me
use an example, | guess. Our peak | oad m ght be

500 megawatts on July 14th.

Q Mm- hmm

A On the 14th of July it m ght be 500
megawatts. Of that -- and so we need 500 megawatts
plus 15 percent for reserve margins.

Q. Yes, | understand that.

A And so right now those turbines are
al ready part of that 500 plus 15 percent. They're
al ready count ed. Now, next year we're going to
need another 5 megawatts because our | oad grows
from 500 to 505. Okay. In order to accredit that
ot her 5 megawatts, it has to be an additional 5
megawatts of capacity. You can't dip back in and
use what you have. That's already consumed. The
next 5 megawatts has to be new capacity.

Q But you said that wi nd does have a
capacity value of 20 percent if it's nameplate, so
let's say you put in -- let's say you put in 50
megawatts of w nd --

A Yes.

Q -- to balance the capacity that you have




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

674

with your systemright now in megawatts with --
with your gas, 110.

A. Ri ght .

Q And | don't know if that's the right
number to balance with 110, but if you did, then
you woul d have another 10 nmegawatts of capacity
next year.

That's exact right.

So it would meet -- it would meet your
goal .
A. 50 megawatts would give you --
Q 10 additional ?
A -- 10 nmegawatts.
Q But you woul dn't have had to have the
i nvest ment of another -- and you already have your

investment of your 110 megawatts of gas peaking
already i n place.

A. Mm- hmm

Q So why doesn't that become a | ower -- |
mean, a sonmewhat | ower cost resource than al ways
comparing it to building new, where you're talKking
about you have to build new wi nd plus new gas
peaking if you wanted to add any wi nd that counted
as capacity?

A. You're exactly right in that 50 megawatts
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woul d give you 10, but that's, you know, two years'
worth of capacity. Now you'd have to put another
50 in, and so, you know, wind -- wi nd capacity does

not count for nmuch.

Q But it counts for something?
A. It counts for something, that's exactly
correct.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Thank you.
JUDGE WAHL: Comm ssi oner Cramer.
COMM SSI ONER CRAMER: Yes.
FURTHER EXAM NATI ON
BY COWMM SSI ONER CRAMER:

Q So that | understand this, if -- maybe |
don't. If you were to count the 110 megawatts of
gas peaking units now toward basel oad, would you
t hen have to find another 110 nmegawatts somewhere
el se, too?

A No, you would not. It's accunul ative.
Basel oad - -

Q | under st and.

A On that peak, it's different.

Q But would you have to find sonme new
peaki ng?

A You woul d have to | ook at the | oad

profile, is what you have to | ook at, you know, a
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daily and a yearly |load profile, and that really
ki nd of determ nes what you need for basel oad as
opposed to peaking. It's a |l oad profile.
FURTHER EXAM NATI ON
COMM SSI ONER WEFALD:

Q Has MDU had to go out into the marketpl ace
for capacity in the past to meet summer peak?

A Yes, we have.

Q How many years would you say in the | ast
five have you had to do that?

A. We've had to go out in the market ever
since the AVS contract expired.

Q Did you have to do that even prior to that
on occasion?

A Yes, we have. On occasion we have had to
do that.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Thank you.
JUDGE WAHL: Comm ssioner Cl ark.
FURTHER EXAM NATI ON
BY COMM SSI ONER CLARK:

Q This is probably not the right question
for you, but if you knowit, let nme know. | think
in Ms. Stonberg's testimny she indicated that at
times the cost of going out into the market reached

as high as a hundred megawatt -- a hundred doll ars
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per megawatt-hour or nore. Do you know what the
average cost of procuring power in the market --

M SO mar ket has been if you annualized it?

A. | do not have that. | do not have that.
But, yes, | do know for a fact because | have been
on the website where power has been nore than a

hundred dollars a megawatt-hour in the M SO system

Q Coul d that be provided just with a --
A Sur e.
Q Okay. | understand what the peak is, but

| would be interested in an average cost.
A. An average cost.
COMM SSI ONER CLARK: Thanks.
MR. KUNTZ: Average cost of capacity we're
tal king or energy?
COMM SSI ONER CLARK: Ener gy.
COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Oh, you want energy?

COMM SSI ONER CLARK: Ener gy.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: | want capacity, as
wel | .

MR. KUNTZ: | guess we want both.

MS. STOMBERG. We don't buy capacity from
the -- you mean in our contracts?

THE W TNESS: Yeah.

MR. KUNTZ: | "' mnot sure that the M SO
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mar ket is -- has got capacity.

THE W TNESS: There is no M SO capacity.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: There's a bill board
for capacity. W know about that.

COMM SSI ONER CLARK: | can tell what you
" minterested in. In your testinmony, Ms.

St omberg, you had referenced a hundred dollars a
megawatt - hour fromthe M SO market as an exanpl e of
as high as it's reached. | would be interested in
t he average. Thanks.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: And I'minterested
in -- like for this summer | think you had to
purchase some capacity.

THE W TNESS: That's correct.

COWMM SSI ONER WEFALD: And so maybe you
could share with us the price of that contract for
capacity. It's confidential.

MS. STOMBERG: Yeah. We can provide that
under our confidential.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Okay. Thank you.

REDI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY MR. KUNTZ:
Q M. Steen, | just want to make sure we're
clear on this exanmple, the hypothetical you used.

Let's assune you've got a situation where your
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capacity plus your 15 percent matches up with what
you have installed generation. Okay?

A. Okay.

Q So the next year you've got to add 5
megawatts. Okay. You can either add 5 nmegawatts
of Big Stone or you can add 25 megawatts of w nd,
as | understand, to nmeet that 5 megawatt -- to neet
t hat capacity requirement. Wuld that be a fair
compari son?

A That's a fair conparison

Q One woul d be basel oad, one woul d be
intermttent, but to get 5 megawatts of capacity to
meet your MAPP requirements, you would need 25
megawatts of wi nd versus 5 megawatts of basel oad?

A 5 megawatts of basel oad.

Q And, ball park, how would the cost of those
two options conmpare?

A Well, the cost of wind is about $2,000 a
kil owatt and the cost of Big Stone is about 2,500.

Q And you' d need 25 of one and five of the

ot her ?
A. 25 of one and 5 of the other.
Q And you'd still need transm ssion for 25

for the wind and 5 for Big Stone?

A. That's correct.
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Q And do the capacity prices -- going into
the market to buy capacity, do those prices vary
dependi ng upon what's -- the pool situation is with
respect to being deficit or surplus at the time?

A Yes. And as | testified earlier, we're
into a capacity deficit market at this point, so
the price that you have to pay for capacity today
versus ten years ago is considerably nore.

MR. KUNTZ: That's all 1 have. Thank you.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Breen, followup.

MR. BREEN: (Shakes head.)

JUDGE WAHL: M. Binek, followup.

MR. Bl NEK: No.

JUDGE WAHL: Thank you again, M. Steen.

THE W TNESS: Thank you.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Thank you.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Kuntz, anything further?

MR. KUNTZ: Not hi ng further for
Mont ana- Dakot a.

JUDGE WAHL: All right. M. Breen, you
have some pending matters, | think.

MR. BREEN: Yes, | do, sir. Gee, |I'mso
organi zed | forgot which file |I put it in. MVhile
| ' m obtai ni ng these documents, there was testinmony

submtted by -- prefiled by Mark Trechock, which is
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a four-sentence statenment, which in essence says
that he's a ratepayer and lives in North Dakota and
a ratepayer of MDU, and the parties have agreed to
accept that wi thout the need of cross-exam nation,
et cetera. The fact is not in dispute.

JUDGE WAHL: So you're moving its
adm ssion?

MR. BREEN: Yes.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Guerrero.

MR. GUERRERO: No obj ecti on.

JUDGE WAHL: And M. Bi nek.

MR. Bl NEK: No obj ection

JUDGE WAHL: All right. Has that been
mar ked as an exhibit? You've got it Intervenors'
what, about --

MS. DANI ELS: 8 is the next number.

JUDGE WAHL: ls it 87

MR. BREEN: And, simlarly, is the --

JUDGE WAHL: Just a m nute. | nt ervenors
8 is received. All right, M. Breen.

MR. BREEN: Simlarly, is the testimny of
a M chael Drunsic, who was nmentioned in David
Schlissel's testinony. And his testimny, after he
says who he is, consists of a page and a half, and

all this testimny says is | got these inputs from
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M. Schlissel, | put it into the computer model, |
ran it, | printed them out and | gave them back.
And the parties have agreed there's no need for
cross-exam nation about this testimny and | ask
that it be accepted.

JUDGE WAHL: Al'l right. As Exhibit --
| ntervenors' Exhibit 9, the direct testinony of
M chael Drunsic, will be received.

MR. BREEN: There may or may not be an
agreement -- |I'm not sure, we've had different
conversations and certainly any party who reached
an agreement yesterday is entitled to have a
different opinion this morning. I n the documents
already filed with this Conmm ssion, in the notion
in limne attached were -- or a memorandum of | aw
in opposition to the notion in |limne were attached
the |l egislative histories of 49-02-23, known as the
externality statute, and the |l egislative histories
of 49-05-16, which is the prudency statute. I
sinply ask that the Court and the Comm ssion sinply
accept those by judicial notice.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Guerrero.

MR. GUERREROC: Your Honor, |'m not sure
exactly what he is trying to acconplish by

suggesting that the Comm ssion or the Court take
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judicial notice of a statute that's obviously a
public statute, including its legislative history.
He's already filed arguments with respect to the
| egi slative history in his previous papers, and we
think that that's most |ikely sufficient for
what ever relevance it is intended to be submtted
for, so | guess we would object to the motion.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Binek.

MR. Bl NEK: | think it's unnecessary. I
don't particularly care, but | see no need for it.
MR. KUNTZ: M. Wahl, | m ght point out

the fact that legislative history is inportant if
there's an anbiguity in a statute. At this point
no one has argued that there's any anbiguity in
either of these statutes. The hearing officer has
al ready rul ed. | don't know that that's a problem
with the Comm ssion considering the |egislative
history if it determ ned there's an ambiguity. | f
the Comm ssion finds there's an ambiguity in either
statute and they want to look to it and interpret
it, I have no objection to it and | think that's
their right. But at this point I haven't heard

t hat anybody has suggested there's an ambiguity in
ei ther of these two statutes.

JUDGE WAHL: Make your record, M. Breen
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MR. BREEN: "' m not going to reargue these
motions in favor and notions opposing about both of
t hese statutes, but there's lengthy argument in the

menmor anda about ambiguities, interpretation and

application of these statutes. And 1'Il say no
nor e. It's been briefed at length. Simply for
pur poses of the conmplete record, | would claimthe

motion that you sinply recognize it by judicial
noti ce.

JUDGE WAHL: Yeah. Here's how | view it.
Your response to the notion is there together with
your exhibits. That's part of the record. The
Comm ssion is entitled to revisit that, plus the
fact that the legislative history is here. The
Comm ssion -- |I'"m not even sure it's a question of
adm ni strative notice. It's a question of it's a
resource. The Comm ssion in the exercise of its
aut hority can look into that, can ask its staff to
address it, so let me just say that it's there. | f
t he Comm ssion wants to -- wants to use that --
avail itself of that resource, if it directs its
staff to do that, it can. | don't think it's
necessary to formally -- and | think it's probably
not useful to formally recognize that information

as a matter of adm nistrative noti ce.
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MR. BREEN: It's an abundance of caution.

JUDGE WAHL: Well, you have your record,
M. Breen. The motion is denied as unnecessary.

But | assure you if the Comm ssion takes an
interest init, it will look at it. Anything
further, M. Breen?

MR. BREEN: There's one other issue. W
do have one copy of the Power Point summary of David
Schlissel and we could mark that and provide all
the additional copies in the mail posthearing.

JUDGE WAHL: Sure, but that's already been
directed.

MR. BREEN: Yes.

JUDGE WAHL: That is right, so you should
proceed to do it.

MR. BREEN: Thank you

JUDGE WAHL: Anything further?

MR. BREEN: We have not hing further.

JUDGE WAHL: Now, just to rem nd you, M.
Breen -- | don't want to overl ook anything -- are
you going to renew your motion regarding the
testinony of Ed Steadman or are you going to
abandon it, because that's not part of the record?

MR. BREEN: We're satisfied that we've

expl ored those areas through cross-exam nati on. I
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will not renew that moti on about Ed Steadman.

JUDGE WAHL: So in fact you're abandoni

MR. BREEN: Yes.

JUDGE WAHL: All right. Anything furth
M. Breen?

MR. BREEN: Not hi ng further.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Guerrero.

MR. GUERRERO:. Thank you, Your Honor.
Before | forget, since | did yesterday,
Comm ssioner Clark had inquired about the Burns
on Tuesday about the Burns & McDonnell original
siting study, and we did track down some Burns &
McDonnel |l people that were responsible for that

st udy. Unfortunately, they were not avail able
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ng

er,

ei ther yesterday or today to field questions. W

have a copy of the study. M. Rolfes has reviewed

it. And to the extent that Comm ssioner Clark h
any further questions, we'll do the best we can
with Mr. Rolfes, but | did want to |let Conmm ssio

Clark and the Comm ssion know that we tried, but
t hey were not avail abl e.
JUDGE WAHL: \Why doesn't the Comm ssion

t hi nk about that. "1l proceed with M. Binek

as

ner

and

then if that's something that the Comm ssion wants
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to inquire, we can |look in that as part of M.
Guerrero's rebuttal.

COWMM SSI ONER CLARK: Sounds good.

JUDGE WAHL: All right. M. Guerrero.

MR. GUERREROC: Before M. Binek, would it
be possible to take just a five-m nute break? |'m
going to be doing the cross-exam nation of M.
Deason

JUDGE WAHL: All right. We may do that a
bit early, M. Guerrero.

MR. GUERRERO: Thank you.

(Recess taken at 9:24 a.m to 9:34 a.m)

JUDGE WAHL: All right. M. Bi nek.

MR. Bl NEK: Bef ore we begin with M.
Deason, on Tuesday Comm ssioner Clark had brought
up the testinmony of Robert Sahr that was
presented --

JUDGE WAHL: M. Binek, I"msorry. Could
| ask you to postpone that notion, please?

MR. Bl NEK: Sur e.

JUDGE WAHL: And let's do that at the
conclusion of M. Deason's testimny, if you wll.

MR. Bl NEK: Sur e. No probl em

JUDGE WAHL: Thank you.

MR. BINEK: At this time | will call Terry
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JUDGE WAHL: M. Deason, as you have heard

me advi se previous wi tnesses, your testinmony is

required to be under oath and I'mrequired by | aw

to advise you regarding perjury before

adm ni stering the oath. Perjury is a false

st at ement

of material fact which you do not believe

to be true, in other words, generally speaking, a

lie.

In North Dakota perjury is Class C felony

puni shable by a fine up to $5,000, inmprisonnment for

a period of up to five years, or both. WIIl you

rai se your right hand, please, M. Deason.

(Wtness sworn.)
JUDGE WAHL: M. Bi nek.
MR. BI NEK: Thank you

TERRY DEASON,

being first duly sworn, was exam ned and testified

as foll ows:

DI RECT EXAM NATI ON

BY MR. BI NEK:

Q
A
Q
A.

street,

Pl ease state your name for the record.
My name is Terry Deason.
And what is your business address?

My business address is 301 South Bronough

Suite 200, Tall ahassee, Florida.
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Q And by whom are you enpl oyed?

A ' m enpl oyed by the firm Radey Thomas Yon
& Cl ark.

Q And i n what capacity are you enployed by
that firnf

A. | am empl oyed as a special consultant,
specializing in the fields of telecommunications,
public utilities and water and wast ewat er
utilities.

Q What is your enployment history?

A. Ot her than two years in the banking
i ndustry immedi ately follow ng graduation, my

entire professional career has been in various

capacities in the field of public utility
regul ati on. | have served in a consumer advocates
office in the State of Florida, | have served as an

assistant to a comm ssioner at the Florida Public
Service Comm ssion, and |'ve also served 16 years
as a Comm ssioner on the Florida Public Service
Comm ssi on. My last termon the Comm ssion ended
January 1, 2007.

Q What is your educational background?

A. | have a bachel or of science degree with a
maj or in accounting from Florida State University.

| also have a master of accounting degree from
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Florida State University.

Q Have you submtted testinony previously in
utility regulatory proceedi ngs?
A. Yes, | have. It was at a time before |

was appointed to the Public Service Comm ssion,
but, yes, | have testified in numerous proceedi ngs
before the Florida Public Service Comm ssion.

Q Was the direct testinmony that has been
mar ked as PSC Exhibit 1 prepared by you or at your
direction?

A. Yes, it was.

Q Are there any corrections that need to be
made to your testinony?

"' m not aware of any at this time.

Q If I were to ask you the questions today
that are contained in your testinony, would your
responses be the same as stated in your testimony?

A Yes, they woul d.

MR. BINEK: At this time | would like to
of fer Exhibit PSC-1 into evidence.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Guerrero.

MR. GUERRERO: No obj ecti on.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Breen.

MR. BREEN: No objection

JUDGE WAHL: Exhi bit PSC-1 is received.
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MR. GUERRERO: And that includes exhibits?

JUDGE WAHL: Together with the exhibits.

MR. GUERRERO: Thank you.

Q (MR. BI NEK CONTI NUI NG M. Deason, would
you please give a brief summary of your testinony?
A. Yes, | will. In my testimony | summari ze

my understanding of the Big Stone Il proposal and
the process which led to the petitions for advance
determ nati on of prudence.

| present a summary of the site selection
process and ny analysis of that process. | also
present a sensitivity analysis which supports the
continued consideration of Coyote Station as a site
for future additional generation. | present the
results of my review of MDU s generation expansion
plan and Otter Tail's original and revised anal yses
of basel oad generation alternatives. | categorize
the inputs used in these analyses into six
categories, wind inputs, construction inputs,
operating inputs, fuel inputs, financial inputs,
and ot her assunptions.

| generally conclude that the inputs used
are appropriate and in some cases are conservative.
| identify three input areas with some ambiguities

or potential inconsistencies that | invite MDU and
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Otter Tail to address. The areas in question
i nvol ve wind cost and associ ated capacity factors,
capital cost escal ati ons and natural gas price
forecasts.

| also address the transm ssion
requi rements of Big Stone Il and how the addition
of Big Stone Il would enhance the overall
transm ssion system and enabl e greater west-to-east
flows. | address the fuel needs of Big Stone |1,
i ncluding fuel deliverability.

| recommend a nunber of coal delivery
management practices to enhance the efficiency and
reliability of coal delivery. | also describe ny
review of the various agreenments entered into by
the co-owners which govern the devel opment and
operation of Big Stone II.

| conclude in my testimny by describing
the uncertainties and risks associated with Big
Stone 11. | al so describe the substanti al
strategic benefits of Big Stone I1.

| conclude that Big Stone Il should be
approved subject to clarifications and conditions.
The clarifications should address the previously
identified cost inputs, the treatment of asset-

backed sales and the inpact of Big Stone Il on
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future generation sites in North Dakot a.

The five conditions | recomend address
reporting requirements, budgeting, coal delivery
managenment, and two studies concerning railcars and
coal inventory levels. This concludes ny summary.

Q Thank you. In your testinony you cite
several i1nconsistencies between the testinmny of
Oter Tail and MDU wi tnesses. Are you satisfied
with the explanations that have been provided by
the witnesses?

A. | have reviewed the rebuttal testinmony
t hat has been filed both by MDU and by Otter Tai
and, yes, | amsatisfied with the -- with the
response to the potential inconsistencies and
ambiguities for the inputs which | identified in nmy
direct testinmony.

Q You al so made several recommendati ons.
Are you satisfied with the responses made to those
recommendations by Otter Tail and MDU witnesses?

A Yes, | am

MR. BI NEK: Thank you. At this time |
tender the witness for cross-exam nation.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Guerrero.

MR. GUERRERO:. Thank you, Your Honor.




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

694
CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY MR. GUERRERO:

Q Good norning, M. Deason

A. Good nor ni ng.

Q | also note in your -- or | note in your
bio that you're a graduate of West Point; is that
correct?

A No, not a graduate. | attended one year
at the acadeny. Both my bachel or of science degree

and my master's degree were earned from Fl orida

St at e.

Q Thank you. How | ong were you on the -- is
it the Public Utilities Comm ssion?

A Public Service Comm ssion.

Q Public Service Comm ssion. How | ong were

you on the Florida Public Service Comm ssion?

A | served four four-year terms, 16 years.

Q Which utilities -- electric utilities does
the Florida Public Service Comm ssion regul ate?

A. W -- |I'msorry. | keep using the term
"we." After 16 years it's sometimes hard to not
use that term The Florida Public Service
Comm ssion regul ates all of the investor-owned
electric utilities in the State of Florida. The

four | argest of those are Florida Power & Light




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

695

Conpany; Progress Energy, which was fornmerly
Fl ori da Power Corporation; Tanpa Electric Conpany;
and Gul f Power Conmpany, which is a subsidiary of
t he Sout hern Conmpany. There's also one other small
di stribution only investor-owned utility in
Florida, which is Florida Public Utilities.

The Comm ssion al so has
various jurisdiction -- various powers of
jurisdiction over the nmunicipals' electric
compani es, electric systems in Florida and the
rural electric cooperatives. W do not have
rat emaki ng authority over those entities.

Q For munici pals and cooperatives that would
include -- some of those authorities would include
siting for convenience and necessity sorts of
gquestions?

A Yes, it woul d. Al'l electric generation
generating facilities above 75 megawatts t hat
utilize a steamcycle in that generation process
has to come forward under Florida s Power Pl ant
Siting Act, and the first stage in that process is
a need determ nation in front of the Florida Public
Service Comm ssion.

Q Thank you. Some of the utilities that you

cited, FPL, FPC, Tanpa, et cetera, are sone of
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those nultistate investor-owned utilities; do you
recal |l ?

A. Gul f Power is a subsidiary of the Southern
Company. The Sout hern Conpany al so includes
Al abama Power, Georgia Power, M ssissippi Power,
and, | believe, perhaps Savannah Electric, so to
that extent it is multistate. The other utilities
have their retail regul ated businesses entirely
within the State of Florida except for Progress,
whi ch has operations in the States of North
Carolina and South Carolina.

Q Thank you. Wth respect to Gulf, if you
recall, do you know whether or not they did their
pl anning on a systenmwi de basis, or did they try to
do that on a Florida-only basis?

A. Gulf's planning is part of the Southern
Conpany plan. They have a system of sharing
reserves within the southern system so they do
their planning in concert with the Southern
Company. The other investor-owned utilities, which
we refer to as the peninsula Florida utilities,

t hey do separate planning.

Q Thank you. | take it in |ooking at your

bio along with the exhibits attached, you have been

i nvol ved in prudence decisions in the past in your
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experience as a Comm ssioner?

A Yes. That is correct.

Q How many, just generally?

A. Probably in the neighborhood of 25, give
or take a few.

Q What kind of -- what were some of the big
ones, if you recall?

A. Well, the | argest ones probably woul d be
t he Hi nes Energy Center for Progress Energy. There
were a number of projects by FPL, which were
primarily gas-fired entities. Early in my stint on
t he Comm ssion, Florida Power & Light had before
t he Comm ssion a rather |large coal-fired basel oad
generating proposal, which was part of a purchase
power agreement. That was a | arge and contenti ous
case. | think they're listed in an exhibit and, in
all honesty, it's kind of difficult to go back and
recall some of those.

One of the nmore interesting ones involved

Tampa El ectric Company, which was an | GCC facility,
and | know that that project has been discussed

here in this hearing earlier.

Q Some of those decisions involved projects
in the multimllion and possibly billion dollars?
A Yes, that is correct.
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Q And do you consi der yourself qualified as
you sit here today to make recomendati ons or
opinions with respect to prudence deci sions?
A Yes, | do.
Q Have you -- do you have experience with

respect to integrated resource planning?

A Yes, | do.
Q Coul d you describe that generally?
COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: | have a question.
What is the purpose of these -- all these questions
about -- is it to establish that he is an expert or
is -- why doesn't he just ask to chall enge that

like M. Breen did yesterday?

COMM SSI ONER CLARK: | will certainly
state on the record that | trust that M. Deason is
an expert in these areas --

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: | do, too.

COMM SSI ONER CLARK: -- served as a member
of the board of directors of NARUC. So | don't
know that we need to spend a lot time. W are
t hree days in.

MR. GUERREROC: If I could comment, Your
Honor s. | think that it was just the opposite. I
concur that M. Deason is an expert. Il think I'm

| ayi ng some foundation for some additional
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guestions that | think hopefully will tie it
t oget her. Certainly I am not intending to question
the credibility or the qualifications of this
wi t ness.
COMM SSI ONER CLARK: | get that sense.
COMM SSI ONER CRAMER: | get that sense.
know where you're going.
MR. GUERREROC: | apol ogi ze. If 1 may.
JUDGE WAHL: You may.
Q (MR. GUERRERO CONTI NUI NG) Do you have
experience with integrated resource planning?
A. Yes, | have experience. | have not
personally prepared an integrated resource plan,
but in my tenure on the Comm ssion and as an
adviser to a Comm ssion prior to that, | have had
t he opportunity to review many integrated resource
pl ans.
Q And on page 4 of your testinony, M.
Deason, you actually mentioned -- | think it's page
4, I n any event, you had the opportunity to review

t he resource plans of both Montana- Dakota and Otter

Tail; is that a fair statenment?
A The integrated resource plans?
Q. Correct.

A. Yes, | did. | did that, though, in
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consultation with Ms. Bendish on the staff of the
Comm ssion. She did nost of the analytical and the
research on that, and | had the opportunity to
consult with her on that.

Q Thank you. And would it be a fair
statement to say that one of the -- in fact, you
did a fairly nice summary of both of those resource
pl ans as part of your papers.

A. To the credit of Ms. Bendi sh.

Q She did a nice job. Wuld it be a fair
statement or would you agree with the statement
t hat part of the purpose of a resource plan is for
utilities to identify a plan to a comm ssion and in
participation with the comm ssion, the public to
identify resource plans in advance so that when
i nvest ment deci sions are made, hopefully they're
| ess contentious than they otherw se would or could
be?

A. Well, | have not seen where integrated
resource plans in and of themselves has reduced the
contentiousness of these type of proceedings. But
they are certainly a great aid in educating the
public and for the understanding of the public, as
wel | as deci si onmakers. It is an excellent

process.
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If I mght digress for just a mnute, in
Florida there's also a process used, which is
called the ten-year site plan process. And as that
name inplies, every utility in that state is
required to annually provide their ten-year site
pl an, so every year we | ook ten years into the
future. To some extent that incorporates facets of
integrated resource planning. And what it does is
it puts not only the Public Service Comm ssion, but
the siting agencies within the State of Florida and
t he governor and the cabinet and ot her
deci si onmakers, all notice as to what the future
| ooks like so that on a ten-year horizon there --
how should I put it -- there are not surprises.
This is not a hard and fast pl an. It is basically
a planning tool, and it does change as time
changes, but that is what one would expect as | oads
change, as growths, econom cs change, as
t echnol ogi es change, you woul d expect a plan to
change and to be adaptable to those changes.

Q Thank you. Woul d you agree with me that
at least in part utilities should be able to rely
on resource plans that are filed with Public
Service Comm ssions as they nove forward in making

i nvest ment deci sions?
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MR. BREEN: Objection, relevancy. This is
goi ng beyond his opinions that he offered in his
brief summary.

JUDGE WAHL: Overrul ed.

THE W TNESS: Coul d you repeat the
gquestion?

Q (MR. GUERRERO CONTI NUI NG) Sur e. Woul d
you generally agree that utilities that file
integrated resource plans like the ones that you're
famliar with should be generally able to rely on
t hose plans as they nove forward with their
i nvest ment deci sions?

A Well, | think that there needs to be some

certainty in the investment process, but at the
same time that does not relieve a utility of the

ongoi ng obligation to pursue those plans in the

most cost-effective and prudent manner possi ble and

to continually monitor the econom cs and the
technol ogi es and the | oads and refine those pl ans
accordingly.

Q Thank you. And would you agree that bot
OCter Tail -- let me ask you this. Wuld you agr
that Otter Tail, at least in your review of this
case, has done exactly what you just said?

A. | do not take any issue with the plannin

h

ee

g
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process that has been engaged in by Otter Tail or
for MDU, as well.

Q And i s your opinion as an ex-comm sSSioner
with 16 or maybe 30-plus years in regulatory
experience, do you believe that the planning
efforts of both Otter Tail and Montana- Dakota are
reasonabl e?

A Yes, | do.

Q Let me ask you this as an ex-conmm ssioner,

too, M. Deason, and particularly given your

experience with multistate utilities. Do you
believe that it's -- that a prudence decision on
utility investment should be based, and you could

either say in part or in total, on the | ocation of
t hat investment?

A Let me say that while |I have experience
with multistate utilities, it's limted, and to the
extent that, for exanple, Gulf Power, they have no
regul atory operations outside the State of Florida.
Progress Energy of Florida, even though there are
operations of that conpany in North and South
Carolina, the Florida operations are confined to
Fl orida and the ratemaking decisions and prudency
decisions are for those operations within the State

of Florida.
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However, having clarified that, let me say
that | believe that the role of a utility regul ator
is to |l ook at the prudency of decisions, to | ook at
the way a utility can nmost reliably and nost
cost-effectively provide service to its custonmers.
I f that nmeans building a facility within the
confines of its footprint or within the confines of
the state or even outside of the state, so be it.
| believe that the econom c future of the citizens
of a state are best served by the | east-cost, npost
reliable source of generation regardl ess of where
t hat source is | ocated.

We have encouraged -- the Florida
Comm ssion in the past has encouraged Florida
utilities to | ook at generating sources outside of
the State of Florida. And at one time Florida was
so reliant upon oil as a generating fuel that the
Comm ssion actually inplemented a process for
utilities -- an incentive process for utilities to
go outside of the State of Florida to inport
coal -fired generation into the state. That's an
exampl e where it was determ ned the | east-cost
source of generation and, therefore, the nost
reliable and | east-cost to the customers woul d be

froma source outside of the state. That was
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limted because the inport capability of the state
is limted, but that was done and it was quite
successful.

Q Thank you. And it's your opinion, is it
not, M. Deason, that both Otter Tail and
Mont ana- Dakot a have attenpted to find a resource
option that is nmost reliable and nmost cost
effective for their customers?

A Based upon ny review, | would agree that
both MDU and Otter Tail have engaged in this
process with the goal of achieving the nost
reliable and the nost cost-effective alternative.

MR. GUERRERO:. Thank you, M. Deason. No
further questions, Your Honor.
JUDGE WAHL: M. Breen.
CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY MR. BREEN:

Q Sir, you've served as a Comm ssioner on
the -- is it called the Florida Public Service
Comm ssi on?

A. Yes, that is correct.

Q Thank you. Is it true that earlier this
month the Florida Public Service Comm ssion voted
unani mously to reject a proposal what would be at

this time the |argest coal power burning plant for
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source of electric generation, a 1,960 megawatt
pl ant ?

MR. GUERRERO:. And |I'm going to object on
t he basis of relevancy.

JUDGE WAHL.: Ordinarily, as counsel knows,
an agency should gather up all the information that
is available for their consideration, but, boy, |
fail to see how this is relevant, M. Breen. Make
your argument .

MR. BREEN: "1l claimthat | do not get
to rule on the objections.

JUDGE WAHL.: No, but you get to argue
t hem

MR. BREEN: |'msorry, sir, | didn't --
you were speaking and --

JUDGE WAHL: How is it relevant? \What
is -- for what purpose is the evidence offered?

MR. BREEN: It goes to credibility of the
wi t ness. He didn't volunteer the information.

He's a former member of the Comm ssion. It goes to
the |l egal issue of the problemw th the standards
and application of the law in different
jurisdictions.

JUDGE WAHL: You know, not wi thout

f oundat i on. You' re going to have to lay sone
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f oundati on to show the rel evancy, but | think
anot her Public Service Comm ssion's decision on
anot her facility, w thout some show ng that how it
relates to the decision this Comm ssion has to make
is irrelevant.
MR. BREEN: "1l move on. Ms. La Seur
would like to respond to that, if she may.
JUDGE WAHL: There's a problem wi th that,
t oo, as you know, one counsel per witness.
MR. BREEN: We agree, Your Honor. We
agree. May | move on?
JUDGE WAHL: Yes.
Q (MR. BREEN CONTI NUI NG) You've accepted
t he busbar cost values on page -- 1'll help you,
sir, with the question. Turn to page 5. Par don
me. Page 13. It would be much nmore hel pful if I
gave you page 13, sir
You've referred to the busbar cost val ues
of the Big Stone Il project which, you seemto
concur, had a busbar cost value of 69.62.
A. Yes, | see that.
Q Is that Kkilowatt, megawatt? It's
megawatt; correct?
A. Yes, it I s megawatt.

Q Okay. And you've referred to the busbar
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val ue of the CCGT gas turbine plus wind as 80. 78.

That's a busbar cost per megawatt; is that correct?
A That is correct.
Q Okay. Now, in comng to that value we

accept forecast of certain prices, coal, natural
gas, wind, capital, increased capital costs,
financing of those costs. There's a number of

t hose factors that are variable and we accept a

certain forecast value to put into that busbar

cost; is that correct?
A. Yes, that is part of the busbar cost
anal ysi s.
Q And the difference of these values is
$11 -- pardon me -- $11.16; is that correct?
Yes.
Q Now, in the analysis submtted to you in

your analysis did not conclude the continuation of
the wi nd production tax credit; is that correct?

A. It is my understanding that it did not
assume the continuation, but there was in fact a
sensitivity run with inclusion of the production
tax credit.

Q And your review of this difference between
t hese two busbar costs also did not consider the

i ssue of any prospective carbon dioxide
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environment al cost val ue?

A. These particular numbers do not reflect
that, but there was a sensitivity run with the
inclusion of CO2 costs.

Q And if we're to return to this proceeding
under the prudency statute, | think that we have to
wait a year or the statute says sone period of tinme
in the future the parties potentially could return
to review if this proceeding is -- if this decision
is still reasonably prudent. Do you agree that the
conpl etion date of this plant is forecasted to be
in 20127

A. That is nmy understanding, yes.

Q And woul d you agree that if in fact prior
to 2012, prior to the conpletion of this plant,
hypot hetically, if there is some carbon CO2
environment al val ue now mandat ed, woul dn't that
change the difference of these busbar costs
differences before the completion of this plant?

MR. GUERRERO: | guess |I'm going to
obj ect . | don't understand the question. Mandat ed
by who, in what capacity, what fashion?

MR. BREEN: The issue is was whether the
wi t ness understood the question.

JUDGE WAHL: It is, M. Guerrero, frankly.
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MR. GUERRERGO: | would object on the basis
of vague, but obviously --

JUDGE WAHL: Let's see whether the witness
can answer the question.

THE W TNESS: Coul d you repeat the
guestion, please?

MR. BREEN: Sur e.

Q (MR. BREEN CONTI NUI NG) Do you agree under

t he prudency statute that we have here in North
Dakota the parties can conme -- return a year from

now or two years from now or three years from now

to see if it's still reasonably prudent to conplete
the Big Stone Il project?
MR. KUNTZ: ' m going to object to that on

the basis it calls for a |legal conclusion under our

statutes, and in fact | think it's an incorrect
statement. The statute, as | recall, requires
periodic filing updates and that's --

JUDGE WAHL: Yeah.

MR. BREEN: "1l withdraw the question to
get to the brief raising of the question that
brought us here in the first place.

Q (MR. BREEN CONTI NUI NG) Do you agree, sir,
that if sometime before the conpletion of the Big

Stone Il Plant in 2012 there are new carbon di oxi de
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environmental costs and
bet ween those two busbar
MR. GUERRERO:
obj ection. What carbon
an i nconmpl ete answer --
and it's vague.
MR. BREEN: It
MR. GUERRERO:
m sl eadi ng.
MR. BREEN: It
JUDGE WAHL:

pl ease. State the quest

Q (MR. BREEN CONTI NUI NG)

that if prior
Il Pl ant
carbon di oxi de cost

val ue are required, that

difference between these two busbar

JUDGE WAHL: Al

MR. BREEN: It
| claimit.

JUDGE WAHL: Mr

MR. GUERRERO:
obj ecti on.

JUDGE WAHL:

Let

to the compl eti on of
projected in 2012 that

as an environnent al

On what
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val ues, that the difference

costs will change?
' m going to renew t he
think it's

cost val ues? |

or an inconplete question

S.
It's prejudicial and it's
may be prejudicial, but --
me hear the question,

ion, please, M. Breen.

Do you agree, sir,
this Big Stone
hypot hetically

cost and

that will change this
costs?

| right.

s a hypothetical question.
. Guerrero.

' m going to renew t he

grounds?
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MR. GUERRERO:. Well, it's vague. We don't
know what environnmental cost he's referring to, and
if the environnmental cost is a hundred doll ars,
it's going to make more of a difference than if
it's 50 cents. So | think the question is
m sl eading to throw out a question |ike that for
this witness to say that the $11 delta is going to
change seems to me to be very vague and m sl eadi ng,
so | would renew the objection.

JUDGE WAHL: Let's let him answer. He's
an expert, the Comm ssions and their staff are
experts. Proceed. Overrul ed.

THE W TNESS: | think the first point to
make is that in a busbar cost analysis there are
many assunmpti ons that have to be made. It's just a
necessary part of the process. | believe that the
-- and | described in my testimony in nmy review of
the inputs that | generally believe that those
i nputs are appropriate. There were a few that |
t ook issue with and those have been clarified.

What we do know is that the costs,

t hensel ves, are going to change with time and that
the differential between the various technol ogies
will change with time, and that's why | indicated

in response to an earlier question | think it is
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the responsibility of a prudently run utility to
constantly nonitor these situations. Whet her there
is a differential that arises to the extent that it
brings into question a particular project, that's
an entirely different matter and it would have to
be quite substantial. \Whether CO2 would rise to
that level, | can't sit here today and tell you
that it woul d. | don't believe anyone can. It is
a contingency that is out there. In fact, there
was a sensitivity run recognizing it as a
contingency. Also, | think it's difficult to
identify one input in isolation and hypothesize as
to what direction it may go. W know that all
t hi ngs are going to change. And it could be --
very well could be that if there is to be CO2
regul ation, that that's going to have inmpacts on
t he various other inputs, as well. As an exanpl e,
if there is to be CO2 regul ation, one would assune,
and I think it would be very probable, that there
woul d be inpacts on the price of natural gas. W
know that the price of natural gas is a very key
i nput component. So that could also inmpact the
various relationships of the technol ogies in the
busbar cost anal ysis.

So to answer your question succinctly,
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yes, CO2 could have an inpact, but what direction
and the final differential between the
technol ogies, | don't think anyone here can answer
that at this point.

Q Sir, are you aware of any other PSCs that
have cited CO2 costs in rejecting coal-fired power
pl ants?

MR. GUERRERO: | guess | will object again
on the basis of relevancy.

JUDGE WAHL: Overrul ed.

THE W TNESS: "' m not aware of any utility
that has rejected a coal-fired power plant citing
only the potential for CO2 regul ati on. "' m awar e
of some cases where it has been an issue and it did
receive consideration.

MR. BREEN: | have no other questions at
this time.

JUDGE WAHL: Questions fromthe
Comm ssi on.

EXAM NATI ON
BY COMM SSI ONER WEFALD:

Q Can you tell me where | would find the
information fromthe sensitivity study that was run
that was referred to in lines 12 through 14 on page

13 of your testimny?
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A Yes. That is in the revised busbar cost
anal ysis that was provided by Otter Tail, and if
you need a specific reference, if you excuse me, |
can go down and retrieve a notebook and perhaps
find that.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Thank you.

JUDGE WAHL: You may.

MR. GUERRERO: If it pleases the Court,
it's Exhibit 311 -- OTP/MDU-311, if that speeds
t hi ngs up, which is in tab 10 in the trial
not ebooks.

THE W TNESS: Comm ssioner, as | recall,
it was towards the end of the revised busbar cost
anal ysi s. "' m | ooking at page 8, there's a section
entitled 1.8, which is summary of carbon cost
scenari os. | believe there's some information
there. And as far as the wi nd production credit,
t hat escapes me at the nmonent, but | recall that it
was part of the revised busbar cost analysis, as
wel | . | don't mean to take too much of the
Comm ssion's tinme.

COWMM SSI ONER WEFALD: That's just fine.

THE W TNESS: | can continue to | ook for

Q (COMM SSI ONER WEFALD CONTI NUI NG) That's
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okay. s it filed in the Big Stone Il Analysis to
Basel oad Generation Alternatives finished in
Sept ember of 2005? |Is that the report that it's
in?

A Well, | think there was -- there were some
sensitivities, | believe, run in the original study
and | believe those numbers were updated in the
revi sed study.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: So | should | ook for
the revised study. All right. Thank you. That's
all the questions | have.

MR. BI NEK: Conm ssioner, that's the
revi sed study. | f you don't have it there, it the
| ast --

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Dat ed Oct ober 2,
20067

MR. Bl NEK: Ri ght .

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Thank you.

JUDGE WAHL: Anyt hing further,

Conmmi ssioner Wefal d?

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: No.

JUDGE WAHL: Comm ssioner Craner.

EXAM NATI ON
BY COMM SSI ONER CRAMER:

Q Just a couple of things. First, to get
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back to an answer to M. Breen, you said -- you
referred to -- | don't know if you said it was
unfair, but we shouldn't consider in isolation any
one input, understanding it's a dynam c process and
all that. But isn't it fair in today's climte --
is it fair to give greater consideration to the
i keli hood of CO2 costs in the future as an
i solated i nput that needs perhaps a little greater
consi deration than maybe ot hers?

A. | agree it has the potential to have a
significant inpact on the cost-effectiveness of
coal -fired generation, but, as |I indicated, | think

that that is going to have impacts on other inputs,

as well, and obviously the price of natural gas, |
think there's going to be some direct |inkage
there, and to what extent and what inmpact, it's

going to be difficult to say, but | think that
there will be.

Q Coul d you el aborate a little bit on your
-- on the likelihood of a 48-month construction
period?

A. Yes. As | indicated in ny testinmny, |
think that that is an optim stic schedul e;
achi evabl e, yes. One of the key factors is

permtting and how that inpacts the construction
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process. | just thought it was inmportant to
i ndicate that with a high capital cost project such
as Big Stone |1, delays are going to increase costs
t hrough normal escal ati ons and as well as increased
carrying costs in the form of AFUCD.

Q Now, |I'm just going to ask a couple of
basi ¢ questions to |ay foundation for previous
guestions, as weird as that seens. Wuld you agree
t hat Florida and North Dakota are very different
states?

A. Yes, | would agree.

Q Woul d you agree that they have very
di fferent natural resources and industries?

A. Yes, | would agree.

Q Would it seem peculiar for the Florida
tourismdirector to encourage Floridians to spend
their tourism export dollars in another state? You
don't have to answer that.

COMM SSI ONER CRAMER: | have nothing el se.
JUDGE WAHL: Comm ssioner Clark.
EXAM NATI ON
BY COWMM SSI ONER CLARK:

Q | do have just a few questions. On page

10 of your initial testimny, and it's not just on

page 10, but there's a series of questions related
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to the initial Burns & McDonnell study that set the
pl anni ng on the path of sort of being directed
towards Big Stone Il, and you | ooked into a number
of the weighting factors that were on there that
Burns & McDonnell took into consideration. | s
there at | east a concern that you think the
Comm ssion should have or at least it's worthy of
exploring that perhaps very early decisions in the
process, |ike how individual items were weighted,
for example, fuel cost and deliverability versus
access to water or things |like that, that they
could set into nmotion a series of events where it
al most becomes a self-fulfilling prophecy that Big
Stone Il becones the | owest-cost alternative
resource because that's the one that then gets
studi ed the most and any further questions the
Comm ssion may ask, the response is, well, early on
we excluded these other three sites because of
t his. s that a legitimate worry that the
Comm ssion should expl ore?

A. Yes, | would agree that it is. And in
fact when | began ny initial review of the case, |
did not even have access to that original study.

It was only on behalf -- on the efforts of M. M ke

Diller that he obtained that and | began nmy review
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of it. It was alnmpst as if with this filing it was
already just a predetermned -- it was already
predeterm ned and it was not something that was
going to be revi ewed. In consultation with M.
Diller and based upon ny review, we both agreed
that it was something that nmerited the Conmm ssion's
attention in your review, and so we thought it was
appropriate to bring into the testinony. And, of
course, the review indicated that there were sonme
decisions made in that siting process which were
per haps -- perhaps indicated that Coyote had nore
deficiencies than it really nmerited. In fact, sonme
of the deficiencies actually could have been
determned to be strengths of that particular site.

Now, | do not want to underestimate the
i mpacts of some of the serious detrinments of that
site, being transm ssion constraints, extremely
serious, as well as the potential inpacts on -- |
believe it's areas of significant deterioration.
"' m not exactly sure of the environmental
term nol ogy. | think it's PSDs. Certainly, that
is a very serious concern, and that concern exists
more so for the Coyote site than the other sites.
But also indicated in ny testimny that those

concerns can change with time depending on changes
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in technol ogies, and em ssions at other sources can
have inpacts on that, and so | just felt that it
was i nportant to reiterate that Coyote should stay
as a viable alternative for future considerations.

And to nmore precisely answer your

question, | think that the process woul d be
i mproved to have a mobre conti nuous reporting and
moni toring of potential sites. | know that in
Florida there is a ten-year siting process where
pl ans are presented. Those plans are not concrete
and they do change, but at least it puts everyone
on notice, including the permtting -- siting
permtting agencies from an environment al
st andpoi nt on notice as to what people believe the
| ong-term picture to be.

Q You' d agree that at a basic level railing
in coal and transmtting electricity via
transm ssion or both basically just ways of getting
energy to market; right?

A Yeah, there are various ways to get energy
to markets, and there are advantages and
di sadvant ages with each and they certainly have to
be revi ewed.

Q And | also note that in your testinony on

t he bottom of page 10 that some fairly m nor
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tweaking, it sounds like, in the weight given to
different factors, |like fuel delivery, conpetition
and a few other things actually brought Coyote and
Big Stone fairly close together, didn't it?

A Yes, they did. And there were some
assunptions made to show that, and, of course, one
of the assumptions made that in the particul ar
categories that | took issue with, | took Coyote
Station fromthe | owest score to the -- well, it's
actually the highest score, which was the | east
preferable score, to the most preferable score, and
t hat someone probably could take issue with that.
| just was trying to show it in terms of what
sensitivities existed within this study and that
just changing a few of the inputs could have a
mat eri al i1 npact on the relative rankings of the
various sites.

Q Sur e. | think |I recall reading somewhere,
and | don't remember if it was in your testinmony,

t hat water as a weighting factor -- access to water

was given a 20 percent.

A | believe it had an overall 20 percent
wei ghti ng.
Q And as | gather from your testinmony on

page 8, fuel delivery conpetition was given a
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wei ghting of 6.67 percent. Does that seem
proportionate? Water is obviously inportant to
generation, but no nmore important than access to
cheap fuel.

A. First, let me in the effort of full
di scl osure here, that 6.67 was a conponent of a
| arger overall conmponent when it came to fuel. And
| believe fuel maybe had a 15 percent overall
rating, maybe it was 20 -- | don't recall, but the
fuel deliverability was a subconponent of the
overall fuel component. But | agree the fuel
deliverability from an overall standpoint of having
a weighting of only 6.67 seenmed to be quite small.
And | did reference another case where the issue of
fuel deliverability and conmpetition for that fuel
deliverability was an inmportant conponent and
consideration, and | tried to present that from --
just illustrative of how other jurisdictions have
gi ven greater weight to that consideration.

Q Sure. The State of Florida, which you're
most famliar with, does it use a fuel clause
adj ustment process in setting electric rates?

A Yes, it does.

Q So you're famliar with that pass-through-

type mechani sni?
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A Yes.

Q Could you speak a little bit about the
relative strengths and weaknesses of using the fuel
cl ause adjustnment? \What are the potential inmpacts
on consumers when a certain component is sinmply
fl owed through on a dollar-for-dollar basis?

A. Yes, | have quite a bit of experience with

t hat, and having served on the Florida Comm ssion

at the post-Katrina time, | had firsthand
experiences on how fluctuating fuel costs, in this
case natural gas, could have. In fact, in Florida

post-Katrina, the increase in fuel adjustment
factors or cost to customers increased about 1.5
billion dollars, enough to pay for a rather
substanti al basel oad coal facility.

So the fuel component is certainly
i mportant, and with rising fuel costs generally,
fuel adjustment conponents on customers' billings
are growi ng and growi ng and they're actually
surpassing the base rate component on bills. So it
is inmportant.

| think the Comm ssion probably should
take notice of the fact that this particular
project that is being brought in front of you goes

contrary to natural inclinations, | think, by some
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utilities and that being this. Wth fuel
adjustnment clauses | think some utilities -- and to
go namel ess -- have a tendency to ook to the | east
risky, the least-effort alternative, and that is to
build generating facilities which are |ow capital
costs and high fuel costs. Utilities that take the
effort to bring forth a baseload facility which is
hi gh capital cost and high risk both to the
investors as well as the customers, but with the
potential that is going to significantly reduce
overall fuel costs and variabilities in those fuel
costs |I think is comendable, realizing that the
utility -- those |ower fuel costs, they're not
going to participate in savings. Those are going
to be passed on 100 percent to customers.

Now, there is the potential for sonme
benefit in what | refer to as off-system sal es,
think referred to here as asset-backed sal es.
There's some incentive for utilities to engage in
that activity, and that is primarily driven by the
fact that it is a |ow fuel cost option, so there is
some incentive there for utilities, but generally
by | arge and |large with a hundred percent
fl owthrough of fuel, that actually gives the wrong

incentive for utilities to go forward and pursue
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the | ower-cost, higher-risk generating

alternatives.

Q Al t hough expanding rate base can have
beneficial impacts on utilities, as well, can't it?
A. It can. It can increase, and that does --

t hat does increase the earnings, but if you make

t he assunmption that the regulatory bodies are only
going to allow a return on equity which is the true
cost of return on equity, they will earn on that,
but they also could take those funds and invest

t hem el sewhere concei vably, perhaps in some of
their nonutility operations, and earn at |east that
much or nore.

Q Woul d the worst of all worlds be high
capital cost, high fuel cost?

A. That woul d be a bad situation, yes.

Q And then one final question on fuel
deliverability, getting back to your experience as
a former comm ssioner. Do you happen to recall a
di scussion at the national |evel through the
Nati onal Association of Regulatory Utility
Comm ssioners when you served on the board of
directors related to regulation of rail carriers
and concerns that state comm ssioners had about the

regul atory process available to shippers, the
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i mpact on customers, the regul atory process
avail able at the federal government |evel and the
i mpact that potentially has on consumers?

A | do recall that discussion and, as
recall, there was a resolution, | believe, that was
presented to the board of directors at NARUC
addressing that. In all honesty, though, it was
not a high-profile issue for Florida, but as a
member of the board of directors | tried to educate
myself on it and to cast an educated vote on that
particul ar resol ution.

Fl orida, given it's -- we have sonme
advant ages and di sadvantages with our geography and
our |l ocation and that sort of thing, but one of the
advant ages we do have is the potential for water-
borne transportation of bulk conmmodities |ike coal
as a factor -- as conpetition to rail
transportation. So the rail issues that were so
striking and were the subject of that particular
resol ution, we had not actually been directly
i mpacted by that, but | think I am aware of the
i ssue, yes.

Q Generally speaking, would you say that the
sense of the resolution is that state utility

regul ators across the country generally have a
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fairly dimview of the regul atory options that are
currently avail able through the STB and the relief
that's been granted by Congress thus far?

A. | think the resolution says that, and |
al so had the opportunity to review vari ous pieces
of testimony | think that were filed and presented
in front of Congress and that message came through
quite clearly.
COWMM SSI ONER CLARK: Thank you. That's
all 1 have.
JUDGE WAHL: Comm ssi oner Cramer.
FURTHER EXAM NATI ON
BY COWMM SSI ONER CRAMER:
Q | m ght just follow up on that sanme
conversation then, just asking for your
i mpressions -- | guess | had a nore specific
question, but | think it's been answered -- but
your inmpressions after sitting here for two-plus
days, have they been changed at all or enhanced,
what ever feeling you had, because you' ve done a
nice job of articulating in general the problens of
captivity in railroads and you did a nice job in
your testinmony. But having sat through this and
listening to our particular railroad -- a

representative of the railroad here, has that
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sensitivity been hei ghtened any or changed any, or
is it pretty much what you expected?

A. Comm ssioners, pretty much what |
expected, but | would Iike to make this
observation. W had a previous discussion about
Coyote Station and its -- the fact that there were

mor e advant ageous ways of delivering fuel to that

particul ar location. In fact, | believe it's -- is
it considered a m ne nouth source, | believe? |
believe that if this project goes forward, | think
t here would be a duty upon the co-owners -- and |

believe it's probably something they would do,
anyway, but it may need sonme reinforcement fromthe
Comm ssion, if this project goes forward, | think
that the co-owners will be in a stronger

negoti ating position with the railroad given that
there is a project that is taking shape and has
necessary approvals to go forward to engage in sone
negotiations with the railroad. And the fact that
there is a potential alternative sonmetime, be it in
the future, for Coyote Station or other sources

t hat woul d have a nore advant ageous fuel
deliverability option, then I think that that needs
to be used, as well. Now, | have to be honest,

have never in ny career negotiated with a railroad,
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and | understand that that can be --

COMM SSI ONER CLARK: It's a relative term

THE W TNESS: -- a very difficult
undertaking, but | think that it is something that
shoul d be pursued if this project goes forward.

FURTHER EXAM NATI ON

COMM SSI ONER CLARK:

Q | do have one follow-up question al ong
those |ines, because nmy inpression was that perhaps
sonme of the leverage with the railroad goes away
once -- should the Comm ssion grant authority to or
give its blessing to the prudence of this project
because at that point it would seem as though the
utilities are fairly well |locked into Big Stone 11
It would be at that point, | think, rather shocking
to spend a |l ot of nmoney in the reverse course and
pull up stakes. Wuldn't it be just the opposite,

t hat perhaps there's great |everage as long as this
proceeding is open, as long as there is sonme
guestion to whether -- as to what that fuel, you
know, cost conmponent will actually be, but once the
bl essing is granted, we know where the site is
going to be |l ocated, we know where they're going to
be focusing in on, we know what the railroad is

that will be serving and we know where the coa
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will be brought from At that point doesn't the
railroad have extreme negotiating position?

A | agree, and there is that dynamc, and |
guess what | was referring to is the fact that, and
it's evident in this record, this is a long-term
project with a long life, and I would anticipate
that the railroad would want to be serving in the
long term and who knows what can happen in the
long term of this particular project. W're
tal king 40-plus years. | believe that there are --
there are changes in technol ogy which can take
place in the future, just overall changes in
generating m x and things of that nature which can
have the inmpact -- while the project is there and
the capital dollars are sunk, that is true, that
doesn't mean that particular project has to in the
long term continue to burn that fuel, and it's
particularly costly, but at some point there's
going to be a cross-over point to where if the
price of Powder River Basin coal becomes too
expensive and the transportation conponent of that
becomes too expensive, there can be boiler
modi fications made to existing facilities and there
can be changes.

The fact that there's going to be a wet
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scrubber put on this facility both for Big Stone |
and Big Stone |1, that may increase some fuel
flexibility, as well. The price of natural gas is
going to enter into that equation. We really don't
know what's going to take place in that.

| think one of the other things that coal
compani es in general and railroads need to consider
is that nuclear is going to have a rebirth in this
country, and the fact that there may be CO2
regul ati on may enhance nuclear. The | ast |
under stand, other than rarely on occasion maybe
transporting some spent fuel to Yucca Mountain if
it ever becomes a reality, railroads are not going
to be involved in the delivery of uraniumto --
enriched uraniumto nuclear facilities.

So the railroads, thenmsel ves, even though
t hey have been characterized as an unregul at ed
monopoly, and | don't take issue with that
characterization, they, too, have to realize that
there are constraints and that if prices get out of
line, there are going to be other -- people are
going to -- and as they prudently should, are going
to |l ook at other alternatives. So there are sonme
constraints on railroads. They m ght not be great,

but there are some constraints.
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Q And the price point could be a | ot higher
than it is right now, | mean, when you tal ked about
where those |ines crossed?

A It could be. And that is one of the --
and | identified this in my testimony -- it is one
of the risk factors of going forward with a high
capital cost project |like Big Stone |1, and one of
the most significant risk factors is the price of
fuel and the relative prices of fuel conmpared to
ot her alternatives.

COMM SSI ONER CLARK: Thank you.

JUDGE WAHL: Comm ssioner Wefald.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: | have no foll owup.

JUDGE WAHL: Oh, I'm sorry.

COWMM SSI ONER CLARK: Thank you. Very good
guestions, very good answers.

JUDGE WAHL: Any other questions fromthe
Comm ssion? M. Binek, followup?

MR. Bl NEK: | have no foll ow up questions.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Guerrero, followup?

MR. GUERRERO: No. | do want to thank M.
Deason, and certainly if there was any inplication
that | was trying to question your credibility,
hopefully, no offense taken.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Breen?
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MR. BREEN: | have no questions.

JUDGE WAHL: All right. Thank you.

THE W TNESS: May | just make one comment,
pl ease, sir? | just want to express ny
appreciation to the staff of the Conmm ssion and
their assistance that they provided to me in
putting forth doing this review and putting forth
the testinmony. And | also want to express sonme
appreciation to Otter Tail for the fact that they
al l owed nyself and M. Diller to come to their
facilities and harass their people for an entire
week. They were very cooperative and forthcom ng
with informati on and that was very hel pful, and |
appreciate it.

JUDGE WAHL: |"m sure it's reciprocated.
Thank you very much. M. Binek

MR. BI NEK: Thank you. | have no further
wi t nesses.

JUDGE WAHL: No, | understand that.

COWMM SSI ONER CRAMER: We have a notion.

MR. BINEK: We do have the issue of the --

JUDGE WAHL: Yes. Go ahead. Proceed with
your notion, please, now that |I've had a chance to
| ook at the book.

MR. BI NEK: Thank you, Your Honor. At
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this time | request that the Comm ssion take
adm ni strative notice of the testimny presented by

Robert Sahr on behalf of the National Associ ation

of Regulatory Utility Comm ssioners --
JUDGE WAHL: M. Guerrero. " m sorry.
MR. BINEK: -- to the United States Senate

Comm ttee on Energy and Natural Resources on May
25, 2006. This is the testinony that Comm ssioner
Clark referred to on Tuesday and is also the
testimony that he was referring to in his questions
today -- his questions to M. Deason.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Guerrero.

MR. GUERREROC: | believe M. Kuntz is
going to handle this one, Your Honor.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Kuntz.

MR. KUNTZ: Thank you, Your Honor. \hen
this was initially brought up, | raised the
guestion as to the purpose for which it was being
of fered. | don't think testinony in itself is the
proper subject of adm nistrative notice. This is
testinony of a person who is not here subject to
cross-exam nation. There are pieces obviously of
this testimony that | don't have a problem with,
but there are other pieces that are kind of

concl usionary statements dealing with other parts
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ot her railroads, that, you know,

out of context, you know, and

be used, | believe, to support

in this proceeding w thout the

Cross-exam nati on.

hand, if the purpose is to

t he NARUC resol ution attached

have a problem with that resol ution

My problemis with the testimony,

frankly, there's inflammtory

They're meant to be

| mean, that's what they were

don't think that they're

someone again could use
nding of fact in this proceeding
t hat could be taken out of
the benefit of cross-exam nation.

d point out we have had extensive

the rail situation at Big Stone,

and admttedly so, relevant to
proceeding. W' ve offered to bring

| ate-fil ed

believe, that was requested on that
hink it's not |like we don't have a
particul ar issue that this
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somehow is necessary to make a record for this
proceedi ng. We've got specific evidence on the
specific route, the specific railroad and the
specific plant that the Comm ssion can use in
wei ghing its decision without relying on this more
generalized information contained in this
statement.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Breen.

MR. BREEN: "1l join in M. Kuntz's
obj ecti on.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Binek, as you well know,
| believe that the function of an adm nistrative
hearing is to gather in all of the evidence even
wi t hout great regard for relevancy for the agency
to consider and to process, but, Conmm ssioner, |
t hought | m ght be able to find an exception under
Rul e 803, which is why | asked M. Binek to give me
a chance to | ook at the book, and | regret, M.
Bi nek, with all due respect, M. Kuntz, that it
really doesn't -- it's hearsay, that's the problem
and even if it were sworn testinmny, and we don't
have any evidence of that -- it may have been
sworn, it may not have been, but then we still |ack
cross-exam nation. That's the problem And I

don't find an exception in the rule as -- for
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hear say. It doesn't -- generally you can't take
adm ni strative notice of testinmony. So the nmotion
is deni ed.

COMM SSI ONER CLARK: Let me ask, | was
going to also offer for adm nistrative notice the
testinmony of the Electric Edison Institute, which
both of the conpanies are nmembers of, before that
same U.S. Senate Commttee. Wuld the same apply
to that, or is EElI's -- is Otter Tail and MU s
testinony before the U S. Senate Comm ttee al so not
val i d?

JUDGE WAHL: No. The only way it would --
the only way we can get that kind of information in
absent a stipulation is as a public record or a
report. And I'mwilling to reach out, but | just
can't reach far enough to --

COMM SSI ONER CLARK: U.S. Senate testinony
is not a public record?

JUDGE WAHL.: It's a public record, but
it's still -- as a public record, it doesn't neet
the further requirements of the rule, per se.

COWMM SSI ONER CLARK: And the further
requi rements are?

JUDGE WAHL: Well, the further

requi rements are that it -- first of all, that it's
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the activities of an office or an agency, and it's
not. That is, | even thought that -- my thought
was that M. Sahr's testinony would relate to the
activities of his office, but that really -- it
isn't what the rule contenpl ates. It contenpl ates
a report by an agency. That would come in. That's
not what this is.

COWMM SSI ONER CLARK: The chair of the
Sout h Dakota Comm ssion talking about a South
Dakota project before a United States Senate
Comm ttee on behalf of a quasi governmental agency
doesn't qualify as --

JUDGE WAHL: As a report?

COMM SSI ONER CLARK: -- as a report, a
public report?

JUDGE WAHL: No. Not of the activities of
the office or the agency. The second -- the second
exception is that it's matters observed pursuant to
duty inposed by law as to which matters there was a
duty to report. And | get all the way there until
| get to the duty to report, and | really can't --
| would |ike to make it work, | truly would, but I
-- | can't. " m sorry.

COMM SSI ONER CLARK: That doesn't change

the fact that the person testifying was reporting
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on actual testinmny received by the South Dakota
Public Utilities Comm ssion in the course of its
duties? If you turn to the testimny, he does
refer to --

JUDGE WAHL: Does he? Does he clearly --
does he say that?

COVMM SSI ONER CLARK: Absol utely. | would
refer you to page 7 of his testinmony, about the
m ddl e of the m ddl e paragraph, Representatives of
t hese energy suppliers recently participated in a
forum hosted by the South Dakota Public Utilities
Comm ssion to describe the scope of the problem
At this forum nmy fellow conm ssioners heard, in
staggering detail, how these electric producers, so
on and so forth.

JUDGE WAHL: You know, |'m sorry,
Comm ssi oner. | would like to do this, but really
in good conscience, it really doesn't -- it really

doesn't fit the rule, and that's the only way it's

going to -- that's the only way it's going to come
in as an exception under Rule 803(8). The notion
i s denied.

COWMM SSI ONER CLARK: | would ask M. Binek

to then move the NARUC resolution attached to it,

which M. Kuntz indicated that he did not have a
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problem with.
MR. BI NEK: That is correct, M. Kuntz did

not have a problemwi th that, and |I woul d make that

motion.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Kuntz.

MR. KUNTZ: And Mont ana- Dakota woul d not
object fromthe fact that this is -- the resolution

was i ntroduced or made by NARUC on this particular
subj ect for whatever that's worth. | can't speak
for Otter Tail on this.

JUDGE WAHL: | understand that.

MR. GUERRERO: No obj ecti on.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Breen.

MR. BREEN: | have no objection.
JUDGE WAHL: All right. | am marking a
copy as PSC-2, |I'mthinking --

MR. Bl NEK: Ri ght .

JUDGE WAHL: -- which is a resolution
urging | egal and regulatory reformto inprove
rail road shipper rates and quality of service
adopted by the National Association of Regul atory
Utility Comm ssioners board of directors, February
15t h, 2006, which will be received.

COMM SSI ONER CRAMER: Okay. | have a

gquestion then.
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JUDGE WAHL: Comm ssi oner Cramer.

COMM SSI ONER CRAMER: | have a question
about the rules of -- Adm nistrative Rules and the
role of the ALJ as the referee of the proceeding.
What options does the body, in this case the
Comm ssion, have if we would like to have somet hi ng
entered or made notice of? Do we have any -- do we
have any options on our own --

JUDGE WAHL: Yes.

COWM SSI ONER CRAMER: -- beyond your --

JUDGE WAHL: You -- ultimately you can
overrul e nme.

COWMM SSI ONER CRAMER: That's what | was
| ooking for.

JUDGE WAHL.: Usually that's done by a
motion; that is, you can appeal -- under your own
rules, as a matter of fact, you can -- my decision
can be appealed to the Comm ssion. Utimately it's
t he agency that has the authority. ' monly the

agency's hearing officer for this kind of

proceeding. So you have that. But | al so nust
tell you, as Mr. Binek will tell you, that you're
still bound by the Rules of Evidence, so that's a

bit of a problem for you.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: And we woul d handl e
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that in a different forum | think we would not --
we woul d consult with our advisers and then --

COWMM SSI ONER CLARK: Well, let me ask, can
a notion -- can that notion -- does it have to be
made at a public hearing such as this or after we
study the rules on our own and come to an

i ndependent conclusion, which | would want to study

t hem

COWMM SSI ONER CRAMER: Ri ght .

COWMM SSI ONER CLARK: At what point is that
proper?

MS. JEFFCOAT- SACCO: Ei t her. I think it
could be done at either. W've had Conm ssion

moti ons at hearings before and we could do it at a
meeti ng. Ei t her.

COMM SSI ONER CLARK: Okay. Thank you.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: We have time.

COMM SSI ONER CLARK: Thanks.

COMM SSI ONER CRAMER: Thank you.

JUDGE WAHL: You're welcome. All right.
Where are we? Why don't we take a brief recess and
then, M. Guerrero, where are you with rebuttal ?
How | ong?

MR. GUERRERO: Fifteen m nutes.

JUDGE WAHL: Oh, really?
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MR. GUERREROC: Yeah.

JUDGE WAHL: Well, then we should -- let's
recess for about five m nutes and then we'll
proceed and perhaps finish up.

(Recess taken at 10:45 a.m to 10:54 a.m)

JUDGE WAHL: We are back on the record.
Rebuttal, M. Guerrero.

MR. GUERRERO: Thank you, Your Honor. On
behal f of the applicants we call back to the stand
for rebuttal purposes M. Ward Ugger ud.

JUDGE WAHL.: M. Uggerud, you understand,
of course, that your testinmony remains under oath
and subject to the penalties of perjury?

THE W TNESS: Yes, | do.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Guerrero.

MR. GUERRERO:. Thank you, Your Honor.

WARD UGGERUD,
havi ng been previously duly sworn, was exam ned and
testified as follows:
REDI RECT EXAM NATI ON

BY MR. GUERRERO:

Q M. Uggerud, |I'm showing you what's been
mar ked as OTP/ MDU Exhi bit 323. ' m going to pass
some of these out right now. And |I'm show ng you

-- do you have that docunent, M. Uggerud?
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A Yes, | do.
Q And it is, it appears -- what's on its
caption, it's an applicants' response to a second
data request of Public Service Comm ssion staff,

t he public version.

A. Yes, that is correct.
Q Have you seen this document before?
A Yes, | have.

Q Okay. Could you turn to the second page,
which is actually page 4 of the overall docunment,
but |I've redacted some of the pages for efficiency
pur poses, and that appears to be question number 3.

A. Yes, that is correct.

Q And t he next page, which appears to be
page 8, is question number 7 fromthe North Dakota
Public Service Comm ssion staff?

A. Yes, that is correct.

Q And these are questions, as you understand
it, that the Public Service Comm ssion staff posed
to the applicants prior to us com ng here over the
| ast coupl e of days?

Yes, that is correct.
And as was their right to do.

Yes.

o > O »F

And back on page 4, which is question
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nunmber 3, it asked that the applicants provide a
historical summary of the type, sources and costs
of coal used at Big Stone I. And then, Contract
this historical use of coal at Big Stone | to the
anticipated fuel needs of BS I1. Did | read that
correctly?

A. That's right.

Q And there's a couple of arrows that |'ve
mar ked on the document from 2002, from 2006. Do

you see that?

A Yes, | do.

Q Coul d you explain to the Comm ssion what
that is?

A. Yes, | can. The 2002 tinme frame at Big

Stone marks the transition from taking coal
deliveries at Big Stone under a contract with the
Burlington Northern to a tariff movement by the
Burlington Northern. So that period of rates from
the period 2002 to 2006 is an accurate depiction of
t he actual experience that we have seen with regard
to delivered fuel prices to Big Stone. | would
poi nt out that the prices that you see there are
total delivered fuel prices, which include the cost
of coal, the cost of freight, the cost of train

| ease, and the cost of maintenance on the rail car
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fleet, so it's representative of the total all-in
delivered fuel price to Big Stone during the period
of time when we have been operating under a tariff.

Q Thank you, M. Uggerud. And 2002, 2006,
2002 it appears that the price per ton or the
dol I ar per ton was 22.478, 2006 was 25.882. Do you
see that?

A Yes, | do.

Q It's not calculated on this docunment, but

have you had an opportunity to calculate the cost

increase?
A. Yes, | have.
Q Coul d you share that with this Comm ssion?
A. That's approximately a 14 percent rate

increase over that period of time.

Q Thank you, M. Uggerud. Then |'m going to
jump over to the next page and, again, there's a
couple of arrows that |1've indicated on the
document, and that's question 7, and that question
says, Conpare the cost of coal, including
transportation, incurred for Coyote Station with
the projected cost of coal, including
transportation for Big Stone I1I. Did | read that
correctly?

A. Yes.
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Q Now, again, these are questions that the
staff posed to Otter Tail and Mont ana- Dakot a?

A. That's correct.

Q And could you do the same expl anation on
t his docunent?

A. Yes, | can. The price of fuel during that
sanme reference period delivered to the Coyote
Station froma m ne nouth coal resource has
i ncreased by 38 percent.

Q And those are from what years?

A. 2002, 2006, the same reference period as

the period at Big Stone covered by the tariff for

t he BN.

Q And what was the calculation on the Big
Stone |?

A 14 percent for Big Stone, 38 percent for
Coyot e.

Q Thank you. Were you here when M.
Brautovich fromthe BNSF was testifying?

A Yes, | was.

Q Do you recall a coment that he made
regarding an 11 percent increase in cost of
freight?

A. | heard him make the 11 percent. It was

my understanding that he was referencing that in a
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more general way. | don't think that he referenced
that to the Big Stone tariff.

Q Okay. What -- do you recall what years he
had referenced that 11 percent?

A | think that he -- | don't recall exactly,
but as I remember it, | thought that he was
referencing the year 2006, and | think that it was
in response to, |I think it was, Comm ssioner
Clark's question with regard to the 600-mllion-
dol I ar capital inmprovement projects in the Powder
Ri ver and there was sonme questions as to what
i mpacts that m ght have on rates, and that's when |
think | recall the general discussion.

Q Okay. Thank you. And has there been an
11 percent cost of increase in the 2005-2006 tinme
frame for Big Stone?

A No. No, there has not. In fact, | was
able to retrieve, and it's broken out fromthat
informati on you see in response to question 3 on
page 4 of that exhibit, but | was subsequently able
to check as to the actual tariff rates for Big
Stone for the period 2005, 2006 and 2007, and the
actual tariff component of the freight rate at Big
Stone for the year 2005 was $17.08 per ton. In

2006 the actual tariff rate was $17.00 per ton.
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And in 2007, year to date, the actual tariff rate
has been $16.97 per ton. So there has not been an
increase in the tariff rate at Big Stone over the
period referenced. In fact, there has been a

slight decline in the actual tariff rate.

Q That doesn't mean there can't be an
i ncrease?

A That doesn't mean that there can't be an
i ncrease.

Q M. Uggerud, you were the first person to

take the stand on Tuesday, and so much of what

we' ve heard regarding the very real concerns on the
part of the Conmm ssion with respect to the rail

i ssues, have you heard those coments throughout
the course of this hearing?

A. Yes, | have.

Q Is there anything from your perspective as
the senior vice president at Otter Tail and the
project manager of Big Stone Unit | and the
proposed project manager for Big Stone Unit Il --
is there anything additional you would |like to add
to that issue?

A. Well, | would like, you know, the
Comm ssion to know that certainly one of the

responsibilities that we have, and that was why |
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articul ated at the beginning of nmy testimny that
my job is to provide electricity as reliably and
econom cally as possible. And with that
responsibility comes the responsibility to be
engaged in those activities relative to the
adm ni stration of our fuel and our freight
contracts and all other aspects of the supply
busi ness, and so a |l ot of my personal time is

consumed in doing those things that help Otter Tail

and Mont ana-Dakota Utilities and Northwestern and
the other utilities that will be participating in
the Big Stone Il project to achieve optimal prices

with regard to fuel and freight deliveries, and
it's an ongoing activity and there is a |ot that
has happened over the years, and, you know, it's
probably unfortunate, but in the reporting of the
things that we're actually participating in, sone
of those things may appear to involve contention
and differences of some degree of magnitude with
the Burlington Northern, but, again, that's our job
and that's their job. | hope that the numbers that
we have just been able to offer up this morning
woul d be indicative of the fact that we do pay sone
attention to fuel and freight deliveries, and I

think that we have had some success in managi ng
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t hose costs with regard to the Burlington Northern.

| think |I had indicated in my testinony
that we're not w thout option at Big Stone.
Certainly, currently we're captive to the
Burlington Northern. They are currently our only
option, but there is not a situation where we're
wi t hout options at Big Stone. It was mentioned by
M . Deason in his testimny that once we reach the

poi nt where we have a finalized project, and that

doesn't come until slightly later in this

project -- we have not reached financial close yet,
there are still a nunber of things that are under
revi ew. | ncl uded in the review process is this
hearing here. | ncl uded in the review process is
the review by the M nnesota Public Utilities

Comm ssion with regard to the certificate of need
for the transm ssion outlet facilities. But at
some point we anticipate that the approvals and the
permts will be in place and at which time we still
wi Il have an activity that we're engaged in to
arrange for the financing. And it's not until

we' ve actually reached financial close and have put
the money in the bank to begin the construction
that the project is a final one. And so there is a

period of time, | believe, where we'll have an




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

753

opportunity to negotiate with the Burlington
Nort hern for a contract for deliveries to Big Stone
| and Big Stone IIl, if in fact that's what we w sh
to do. As we contenpl ate whet her or not we wish to
enter into a contract with the Burlington Northern
for delivery to Big Stone | and |1, we would weigh
t hat option against the option of making another
attempt to challenge the rate in front of the
Surface Transportation Board. As | indicated, the
process of challenging a rate involves building a
hypot hetical railroad, and when we chall enged the
rate for Big Stone |, the hypothetical railroad
included only the coal deliveries to unit 1. Wth
a second unit at the site and more than double the
coal deliveries to the site, a hypothetica
railroad will have significantly nore fuel being
delivered to share the costs, so it could be that
the determ nation by the partnership would indicate
t hat we m ght have an opportunity to submt another
chal | enge.

Q M. Uggerud, how | ong have you been
responsi ble for the managenment -- overall
management of the Big Stone Unit 17?

A | became an officer of the conmpany in

1988.
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Q And Big Stone Unit | became under your

jurisdiction at that point?

A. At that time.

Q And do you believe you have a grasp of the
issues -- the full panoply of issues in dealing
with freight and rail i1ssues to the Big Stone Unit
| ?

A. Yes, and | have had extensive exposure on

a national basis to issues of fuel and freight, as
wel | .

Q And given your experience, you still
believe making a comm tment for coal deliveries to
the Big Stone site to be prudent?

A Yes, | do.

MR. GUERRERO: Your Honor, |I'mgoing to
of fer OTP/ MDU- 323.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Breen.

MR. BREEN: Ils that the document?

MS. LA SEUR: Good morning, M. Uggerud.
Do you happen to have a --

MR. GUERRERO: Wait a m nute.

MS. LA SEUR: " m sorry.

JUDGE WAHL: The motion to offer the
exhibit is what's pending.

MS. LA SEUR: Oh, yes, that's correct. No
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obj ecti on.
JUDGE WAHL: M. Bi nek.
MR. Bl NEK: | have no objection.
JUDGE WAHL: OTP/ MDU-323 is received.
MR. GUERRERO: And | have a few other
guestions. Thank you.

Q (MR. GUERRERO CONTI NUI NG) M. Ugger ud,
during the course of this testinmony, primarily
after you took the stand, there's been some
di scussi on regardi ng demand si de management and
energy conservation. Have you been present
t hroughout that discussion?

A Yes, | have.

Q And, again, | would ask you, do you have
any further comment on behalf of Otter Tail Power

Conpany and al so as the proposed project manager of

Big Stone Unit Il to offer this Comm ssion on that
i ssue?

A. Well, certainly on behalf of Otter Tail
Power Company, | would offer nyself and Otter Tail

as available to work with the Comm ssion closely,
in fact, in the exploration and the devel opment of
demand side and conservation programs. Otter Tai
has had a long history in working on demand si de

management progranms. We've had direct |oad control




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

756

t hroughout the entire history of our company.

| m ght also just mention for purposes of
background that |1've spent a fair portion of ny
time actually on a personal basis devel opi ng demand
side technol ogi es. In fact, | hold both U S. and
i nternational patents with the devel opment of
demand side technol ogies. And one of the things
that's become apparent to me over the years is that
one of the limtations with regard to the
penetration of demand side technologies is really
the integration of rates and tariffs relative to
participation in certain programs, and, in fact, as

| was working on the technol ogi es that we

devel oped, that was one of the most limting
factors. So it really does take, | think, a

col I aboration between not only utilities and

regul atory comm ssions, but | think it requires
changes in paradigns. It may require quite a bit,
in fact, in order to achieve the kind of

penetration that we have.

The other thing that | would offer is as
we worked on the devel opment of those technol ogi es,
t hat one of the observations that we had was that
truly effective demand side participation has, as a

result of that, a fairly significant potenti al
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i mpact on the system and that is that the effective
programs tend to |limt consunptions during times of
hi gh and volatile prices and nmove consunption to
peri ods of |ow and steady prices. And one of the
t hi ngs we observed was the impact that that has is
not an insignificant one in terms of the shifting
from peaking and intermttent-type resources to
| ow-cost and steady, dependabl e basel oad resources.
Only a relatively modest change in overall system
| oad factor from 60 to 62 percent can have quite a
dramatic effect on the overall m x of resources
t hat one would install on a system
So my point is sinply that effective

demand si de managenment progranms, while they may
reduce the amount of installed capacity that a
utility m ght have to have on their system m ght
actually increase the amount of basel oad capacity
t hat woul d be desirable for a utility to install.

Q M. Uggerud, | take it that this
Comm ssion has your commtnment and Otter Tai
Power's comm t ment - -

A. Absol utely.

Q -- to work --
A. Absol utely.
Q

There was a question -- | think it m ght
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have been this morning even -- regarding the

average cost of the M SO market on energy. M SO is

an energy market. Do you recall that?
A. Yes, | do.
Q Do you have any know edge about the prices

that we're seeing historically and currently in the
M SO mar ket ?

A Yes, | do. And, in fact, in addition to
supervising the supply side of the company, | also
supervise the group of people that is involved in
purchasing and selling electricity in a whol esale
mar ket . And one of the things that was apparent to
me as we just observed on a daily basis the market
this year, is that we were seeing fairly high
prices both on peak and off peak in the M SO
mar ket. And | happened to do sone investigation of
t hose prices at the time that we were observing
them and | called back this morning to confirmthat
my recollection of those was right.

I n January and February for all of the
hours in those two nonths in 2002, the average
price was about $20 per megawatt-hour of energy.

By this year for that same tinme period, the average
price for all of the hours had approached $80 per

megawatt - hour. That's a function purely and sinply
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of the inmpact on prices as the pool is becom ng
| ess surplus and moving toward deficiencies.
| believe that on paper we're still
carrying some reserves, but the quality of those
reserves i s declining, and as our dependence on
providing energy fromthe intermediate and peaki ng
resources beconmes greater as the reserves continue
to decline, | anticipate that there will be further
upward pressure on whol esal e market prices.
MR. GUERRERO: Thank you, M. Uggerud. W
do recognize that that still is a requirement for a
| ate-filed exhibit, but I wanted to suppl ement the
record. No further questions of M. Uggerud.
Thank you
JUDGE WAHL: Ms. La Seur.
RECROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY MS. LA SEUR
Q Yes. |'d just like to | ook again at sonme
of the nunbers and percentage increases that were
referred to in the recently offered exhibit. Let's

see. Your percentage increase from'02 to '06 for

Big Stone | in dollars per mllion Btu was?
A. | believe that that cal culation was 14
percent.

Q | get 13.9, but, yeah, | think you're
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right there. And then for Coyote from'02 to 'O06,
we're in the general neighborhood of 27 percent; is

t hat about right?

A. It's 37.6.

Q 37. 6. And that's --

A | called it 38.

Q 38. Okay. So this is -- | assume your
math is just subtracting the --

A. Yes.

Q -- '"02 nunmber fromthe '06 number and

di viding by the '02 nunmber?

A. Ri ght .

Q |f you calculate that same increase
starting in '96, going back ten years, what kind of
i ncrease do you get at Coyote?

A. W t hout an interesting observation, the
number woul d be irrel evant. Let me point out, |
pi cked the number from'02 to '06 because that
represented the period of time during which we've
been taking deliveries at Big Stone under a tariff,
and the concern had been what was the result of the
experience that we had with freight deliveries from
the Burlington Northern when we were subject to
their pricing authority, and so the reference '02

to '06 was to draw that conparability.
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You make an interesting observation with
regard to Coyote, but there's probably a piece of
information that would be useful to you. | think
the Comm ssion is aware of it. Sonme of the
historical prices at Coyote represent a situation
where they represent actual delivered prices of
coal received at Coyote, and those were not the
actual contract prices.

We had a previous dispute with the coal
supplier for the mne mouth facility at Coyote. We
were concerned that the contract was calculating a
price of coal that was different than the price of
coal that the m ne was charging us, and we were
concerned that we were at risk that the supplier
could always return to the contract price of coal,
whi ch was a hi gher number. And so at some point,
and | can't remember, | think it was in the 1998-
1999 tinme frame, we actually had an arbitration
proceeding with regard to the fuel supplier to the
Coyote plant, had a successful outcone in that
arbitration. The arbitration panel ordered a
reduction in the price of coal and a modification
in the contract.

So my only caution in that is historical

prices at Coyote are kind of a -- it's kind of hard
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to tell what you're | ooking at because in some
cases it was what the delivered price was, but it
was not the same as the contract price, and our
concern was that we were |iable for a potenti al
reversion back to the contract price and the
contract price was higher and it was held by an
arbitration panel to be unreasonabl e. So what you
see historically at Coyote requires a fair degree
of el aboration. Did I confuse you?

Q Probabl y. Now, help nme out here. ' m
subtracting .717, the '02 cost, from .988, the '06
cost.

A I n which table?

Q This is back in the Coyote table. So |
take .988 m nus .717, | get .271, and then, let's
see, we are dividing that by the .717. Okay. I
get your 38 percent. If I go back and do the sane
thing with '96 to 2006, | get around 21.9 percent.
Does that sound right to you?

A And, again, | explained that the choice of
2002 to 2006 was to provide some evidence with
regard to what we have experienced fromthe BN
during that period of time when they had pricing
authority over us. The period prior to 2002 was

pricing under a contract that had been signed
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bet ween the Burlington Northern and the Big Stone
partners, and the details of that contract were --
t hat was confidential information and the pricing
parameters of that were a part of the contract.

But the period from 2002 to 2006 is a good

i ndi cation of what the Burlington Northern was able
to do based on their pricing authority that they
had i ndependently.

Q Woul d you agree that we don't have a | ot
of certainty about how those prices will be
controlled in the future?

A Oh, and | hope that | made it clear that
that's one of the big responsibilities that we have
in operating the power plant is to be engaged
diligently in working with both fuel and freight
suppliers. My point was to just try and relieve
some concerns that | was hearing expressed with
regard to the Burlington Northern's potenti al
treatment of electric rate custonmers, and | hope
t hat the evidence suggests that we have done a
somewhat reasonable job in trying to moderate that
and that | don't think that North Dakota custoners
have necessarily been gouged by the pricing
activities of the BN, but that has taken a | ot of

wor k on our part, and | would want to point out,
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too, that it's not Otter Tail alone, it's Otter
Tail and MDU and the other plant partners that have
been involved in that. But, you know, it's a
compl ex relationship that exists between a coal
plant and its fuel and freight suppliers.

Q Then | ooking at the Big Stone | nunbers --
| think this is back on page 4 -- from'96 to 2006,
what kind of a price increase have you seen?

A. Well, that's higher, and, of course, you
know, you have to keep in mnd that in 2002 we went
froma contract to a tariff. The reason for that
is in order to challenge the rate, you can't
challenge a contract rate. So we had to ask the
Burlington Northern for a tariff and the numbers
t hat you see are what we got for the tariff, then
we challenged that tariff rate, and that chall enge
of that tariff rate has been the subject of a fair
amount of discussion here.

MR. GUERREROC: Do you want himto
calculate -- do the math on it?

Q (MS. LA SEUR CONTINUING) |f you woul dn't
m nd, | would be interested -- just have you
confirmmy very fast math.

A That's 53.6 percent from 1996 to 2006.

Q And then starting over on the Big Stone I
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projections on the bottom of page 8, we go 2010 to
2020, | ooking out ten years, what kind of increase
-- percentage increase is projected there?

A. "' m assum ng, without making that
cal cul ation, that that's either the 2 and a half or
2.9 percent per year. | don't know, but, yes, the
compoundi ng effect of that will be significant. | f
you want me to make the calculation, | certainly
will.

Q So it's about 2 and a half percent?

A | think it's a uniform escalation rate
t hat you see there carried out over a |ong period
of time.

Q So what, 2 to 2 and a half percent would
be expecting 20 to 33 percent?

A. It doesn't appear to me to be anything
ot her than the compoundi ng effect over a | ong
period of time of a relatively uniform price
escal ation, and | did not prepare this. | believe
this was prepared for us by an outside consultant,
and so | hesitate to do anything nmore than just
observe the numbers as you see them but it appears
that it's a uniform escal ation over a |ong period
of time.

Q And what percentage increase do you get up
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to 20207?
A. Well -- and, again, I'"'mnot -- | thought
that it would be exactly to the decimal point year

by year, but it doesn't appear to be, and that's

why | say this was prepared for us by, | believe,
L. E. Peabody. | did not prepare this table myself.
You know, we, | think, had indicated that 2.9
percent, if |I'mnot m staken, and that appears |ike

t hat m ght be the nunber, but it's not exactly
uni form year by year, so when we testified to an
escal ation rate over a period of time, | don't know
if that number that we testified to was an
aggregate number over a |onger period of time as
opposed to each and every year during that period
of time.

Q And what percentage do you get from 2010
to 2020 on these numbers?

A | n aggregate?

Q Subtracting the 2020 number for dollars
per mllion Btu -- well, subtracting the 2010
number, 1.706, from the 2020 number, 2.267, and
t hen dividing that by 1.706.

MR. GUERRERO: Can | make a recommendati on

and just ask counsel to do the cal cul ati on and ask

M. Uggerud if he thinks that's correct since |
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t hink she's already done it?

JUDGE WAHL: Have you done it?

MS. LA SEUR: | have done it, but |I'mthe
first to admt |I'mno mat hemati ci an.
THE W TNESS: Well, 1 get a 53 percent

change in price over that period of time, but,
again, that's a -- you know, you're escal ating
prices and conmpoundi ng escal ati on. And so what
the -- what the average annual increase in that is
alittle bit nore conplicated than taking the
aggregate number and dividing it by the 15 years.
| keep a four-function calculator in my pocket, but
that's a little bit nore conmpl ex cal cul ati on.
Q (MS. LA SEUR CONTI NUI NG) So your nunber
is 53 percent?
A. Well, if | take 43.882 and divide it by
28. 668, that's 53 percent over 15 years.
COWMM SSI ONER WEFALD: \Where do you get the
43 nunber ?
MS. LA SEUR: | was asking about ten
years.
THE W TNESS: Over 16 years?
MS. LA SEUR: No. Ten. 2010 to 2020.
THE W TNESS: Oh, I'm sorry. | took 2010

to 2025. | just |l ooked at the first entry and the
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| ast entry. | didn't hear the question. | was
focused on the nunbers. | can do the 2020.

MR. GUERRERO:. Your Honor, have we beat
this horse?

JUDGE WAHL: Ms. La Seur.

MS. LA SEUR: ' m going to do this one
[ ast time. | don't want to embarrass nyself in
public with my mat hematical skills. | get 32.8

percent.

THE W TNESS: 32.8 percent if you use that
ten-year period.

MS. LA SEUR: Over ten years. Yeah. So
32.8 percent over the ten years, and then if you go
up to 25 -- 2025, | would agree you get to --

THE W TNESS: 53 percent.

MS. LA SEUR: 53 percent. Yeah. That's
all | have.

THE W TNESS: And what the average annual
rate of escalation | don't know is because that
becomes a conpound escal ati on nunber.

MS. LA SEUR: Thank you. Not hi ng further.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Bi nek.

MR. Bl NEK: | have no questions.

JUDGE WAHL: Questions fromthe

Comm ssi on. Comm ssi oner Wef al d.
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FURTHER EXAM NATI ON
BY COMM SSI ONER WEFALD:

Q | have just a couple. The first one is, |
heard you say we have not been gouged by prices by
BNSF in the last -- over the |ast several years.
Then why did you pursue a rate case? | nmean, it
just seens to nme in converse that you could say
this. You' ve told us why you pursued the rate
case. We all know you did. Why would you make a
statement |i ke that when --

A. Gougi ng - -

Q -- you've just been involved with a rate
case?
A. Gouging is a relative term | suppose. W

made a deci sion when we filed the appeal that we
t hought that the rates were too high. There's a
procedure involving coal rate guidelines that prior
to the filing of our case we thought was a fairly
mat hemati cal and routine way of conmparing your
contract price with that that you could be awarded
if you went in for a rate determnation simlar to
what an electric utility does in a rate case.

Q So are you making the distinction to the
Comm ssion that you went in because rates were too

hi gh, but rates -- but you were not gouged by
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rates?

A Right. W -- we -- you know, as part of
diligence to our customers, there is a procedure
call ed coal rate guidelines where a conpl ai ni ng
shi pper can go through a process for a rate review.
That's not unlike a rate case for an electric
utility. W took a |ook at what the mat hemati cal
results would be of applying coal rate guidelines,
and it was our determ nation based on that review
t hat our contract price with the Burlington
Nort hern was higher than it should be if we were to
seek such a rate case

Q Okay. Thank you

A. And so we were | ooking for the opportunity
to even further reduce our rates to our customers.

And, unfortunately --

Q They nmust have felt, too, that they
were -- that you were not being gouged -- the STB;
right?

A. It m ght be nore conplex than that,

actually, but that was the result of their
determ nation, yes.

Q How or -- how or would the conpany's
participation in the Big Stone Il project change if

t he Comm ssion determned it would be prudent to




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

771
allow Otter Tail Power to purchase, let's say, 90
megawatts of energy and capacity from Big Stone |1
and with the recommendation of -- with the
recommendation that the remai nder of the | oad
requi rement be met through demand side management
and/ or renewabl es?

A. Well, I -- let me suggest what the nost
complicating factor would be. The nost
conplicating factor would likely be the application
for the transm ssion interconnection in M nnesot a.
There's no doubt but what if the change in size of
the unit froma 630 megawatt nom nal plant to a 585
megawatt plant if the North Dakota Comm ssion were
to deem a | esser appropriate share from Otter Tail
and MDU, from an engi neering standpoint that could
probably be accommdated yet at the stage that
we're in on the project.

My concern, to be honest, is that the
M nnesota Comm ssi on has given indication that they
m ght deem that any change in regard to the project
woul d result in the need for the applicants to cone
in with a revised certificate of need application
for the transm ssion facilities.

| can sit before you and tell you that, in

my opinion, the M nnesota Public Service Comm ssion
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is being unreasonable with regard to their
percei ved authority over the project in South
Dakot a.

| believe that the transm ssion is a
federal requirement under the National Energy
Policy Act that anybody anywhere could build a
generating plant and that there's an obligation for
the transm ssion provider to provide the
i nterconnecti on.

M nnesota has taken the opinion that
there's an inextricable Iink between the power
pl ant and their authorities over the transm ssion.
So my concern, to be honest and candid, is that any
modi fication of the megawatt participation |evel by
any of the parties could result in a requirement
that we refile the entire transm ssion application.
The del ays associated with that, | think, would
result in a risk of a cancellation of the project.

We filed the transm ssion interconnection
over a year and a half ago. We were initially
expecting a determ nation on that in August of
2006. We're sitting here in the end of June in
2007 and still do not have the report out of the
adm ni strative |law judge, |et alone a deliberation

by the Comm ssion. When we'll get the certificate
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of need for the transm ssion, | don't know.

But the whole issue of transm ssion is the
most conplicating factor, whether it be Big Stone
1, whether it be a wind project, whether it be
anot her North Dakota coal-fired power plant. We' ve
got sone relatively serious issues with regard to
how you do integrated system planning in this
country until we sort out what the new rul es of
transm ssion relative to generation are. The
Nati onal Energy Policy Act provided for, as a
policy, that we would try and create a system where
all generators would have equal access to the
transm ssion, but the rules under which that
transm ssion is being devel oped are in a state of
flux and in a state of devel opnent right now, and
it is the nost conplicating factor for the
devel opment of any generation project.

Q Thank you. Wouldn't -- what's your
t hought on this, if the Comm ssion did that and
scal ed back the size of the plant, though, woul dn't
that allow more room for wi nd devel opment or
renewabl es or other sources along that transm ssion
[ine?

A. Well, as a matter of degree, if you scal ed

back the plant with the intention that there would
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be nore wi nd avail able on the transm ssion that's
still going to be built, that you m ght have the
consequence of scaling back the plant to the point
where you don't do the transm ssion, and then the
whol e transm ssion plan that was proposed for the
pl ant was there to enable the increased w nd. I n
fact, the partners got together and made deci sions.
Every one of us has an interest in the economc
vitality of the comunities we serve, and in every
community that we serve, we see an interest on the
part of |ocal people to be engaged in the
devel opment of various things that bring economc
opportunity to those comunities. W see an
interest in ethanol plants, we see an interest in
bi odi esel plants, we see an interest in the
devel opment of wi nd plants, and everywhere that we
have been in discussion with potential w nd
devel opers they have indicated to us that the nost
serious obstacle they face is with regard to the
transm ssion systemto enable the output of their
wi nd generati on.

Q. | understand that. But woul dn't the
owners of the potential power plant have an option
to, if they chose, then nmove forward with 120

megawatts -- let's say Otter Tail and MDU, even
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t hough the Comm ssion had thought it was only
prudent for 90, you would have the opportunity to
still nmove forward with that project at the same
size and just to have that risk be out there for
your conpany, those 30 megawatts, which Otter Tai

has done a | ot of buying and selling of power on

the market in the -- through the M SO marKket,

anyway, so how would this really -- would it have

any inmpact at all? You wouldn't have to scale

back. You could still just nove forward.
A. But I'm not sure that the outcome is a
known outcome for what you suggest. On the one

hand, the Comm ssion could approve --

Q It wouldn't be a known outcome, no.

A. The Comm ssion could approve a 90- megawatt
participation |level and Otter Tail could continue
116 nmegawatt, of which 30 megawatt woul d be
essentially a merchant power plant project that we
woul d earn our recovery from not through rates, but
fromthe market price.

Q Mm- hmm

A But it's entirely possible that the board
of directors of our conmpany would say that they're
not in the business of taking on the risk of a

mer chant power plant, in which case they could say
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we no | onger have a viable project and Otter Tail

woul d be forced to pull out. If Otter Tail pulled
out of the Big Stone Il project, | think the rest
of the partners |ikely would, as well, and then you

don't have any of the transm ssion that's being
proposed by Big Stone I1. So now i nstead of being
able to accomodate 50 megawatts more wi nd, you

m ght be able to acconplish a whole |ot |ess

because you don't even have that supporting

proj ect.
Q So what you're saying is the Conm ssion
has a choice of 120 megawatts -- or 116 or nothing?
A. We' ve asked for a prudence determ nation
on 116.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Thank you.
JUDGE WAHL: Any further questions from
the Comm ssion? Comm ssioner Clark.
COWMM SSI ONER CLARK: | do have a few and |
fear it mght take |longer than |I had hoped.
FURTHER EXAM NATI ON
BY COMM SSI ONER CLARK:
Q How nmuch has Otter Tail Power spent in
time and money on the case it brought against a
railroad that it doesn't believe is gouging

custoners?
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we're five and a half years, and |I'm not sure of

t he exact ampount of noney, but it's between five

and six mllion dollars.

Q Okay. On a separate issue, would Otter
Tail --

A. Excuse nme. If I mght correct nyself.

That's total cost, not just Otter Tail.

Q Thanks. Wuld Otter Tail be willing to
stipulate as part of this proceeding to hol ding
Otter Tail Power consumers harm ess to future fuel
cl ause adjustnments above and beyond Otter Tail's
projections for fuel cost in this case?

A. No. I think --

Q Would it be willing to share in some of

the risk with ratepayers?

777

A Well, my preference would be to make sure

t hat the dialog that we have between Otter Tail and

the comm ssions that regulate us is close enough so

t hat those activities that we're engaged in are
deemed to be prudent.

| want to just point out, you know, the

five, six mllion dollars that was spent to try and

| ower the delivered coal prices were not passed on

to consumers. Those were prices that we paid for
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directly fromthe sharehol der portion of the
return.

Q Ri ght . But |I'm not asking about that with
t his question. | "' m aski ng about the fuel clause
adjustnment and I'"'mtrying to explore a way forward
here where at |east nmy concern -- | don't know
about other Comm ssioners' concerns, we'll talk
about it in the work session -- where somehow Otter
Tail and -- the applicants can alleviate the
concern regarding future fuel clause adjustnents,
the concern being that -- capital costs are one
thing, and | think the applicants have made a very
strong case with regard to capital costs of this
proj ect. Overall costs are something el se that
have to include the FCA. Is there some way that
you can envision the applicants becom ng a shared
risk partner with consumers with regard to these
fuel clause adjustnments?

A. You know, | don't -- | don't know the
answer to that. As M. Deason testified, that's a
delicate thing. You know, so often time and again
utilities are finding it easier to take the
expedi ent path of doing those things with the | east
ri sk and, consequently, the |east reward

opportunity for the customers, too. We're not in
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t he busi ness of investing money to not earn a
return on it.

As M. Deason indicated, one of the things
t hat people struggle with is if it appears that the
peopl e that are investing the money in these
projects can do better el sewhere, there's no
requi rement that it's invested in a regul ated
electric utility, so that's a shared
responsibility. Now, | would -- and |I certainly
don't make these comm tments on behalf of Otter
Tail Power Company, and Otter Tail Power Conmpany
doesn't make them on behalf of Otter Tail

Cor por ati on. Okay. There is conmpetition for

money.
From nmy personal perspective, | would

suggest that | would personally have sonme

willingness to discuss that, but would suggest then

t hat, okay, if there's the risk of not earning a
return on some of those fuel clause costs, would
there be the opportunity for the upside of being
able to keep some of --

Q. But, as | understand it, Otter Tai
doesn't earn a return on the fuel clause costs; is
t hat correct?

A. But you were suggesting, | thought, that
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we put some of that nmoney at risk by not being able
to recover it in the fuel clause if it exceeded a
t hreshol d. And what | was suggesting was if that's
what you were heading toward, my willingness to
consider a portion of the nmoney at risk that way
woul d probably have to be offset with an
opportunity to get nmore if | did better than that.

Q But isn't right now 100 percent of the
risk of the fuel clause adjustment, of escal ating
fuel costs borne by consunmers? How is it that a
movenment towards the utility sharing in some of
that risk then entitles the utility to additional
revenue recovery opportunities in the future?

A As M. Deason pointed out, the whole issue
of the fuel clause adjustment is a conmplex one.
Just for exanple, our wind cost recovery, that's
been deemed to be prudent and we will be able to
pass those things along automatically.

Q. Sure.

A. The Coyote fuel prices have gone up nore
percent agew se.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Actual ly, the
Comm ssion hasn't done anything in regard to
wind -- your wind. W haven't taken any action on

t hat .
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THE W TNESS: Then | spoke incorrectly.

But nmy point is that that whole -- that whole
notion of how costs are recovered is an inmportant
one to us. That's why we're in this business and
that's why as regul ated monopolies that's a shared
responsibility that requires a post dialog with the
comm ssions. We don't want to be in a business
where significant costs and the way in which we
recover those is unknown to us or poses an
unaccept abl e busi ness ri sk. It is a business
proposition, and |I can't speak for our conpany with
regard to that. | can only suggest that my first-
bl ush reaction is that it would step outside of the
normal confort |evel of what we've historically --

Q (COMM SSI ONER CLARK CONTI NUI NG) "1l take
one last try at it, then I'Il give up. | can
understand how the rate base itens are a shared
risk between sharehol ders and r at epayers.
Compl etely understand it. Conpletely agree with
you on that. Explain to me how the fuel clause
adjustnment, the cost of the delivered fuel costs,
are a shared risk between sharehol ders and
rat epayers.

A. Well, I'"mnot sure that | understand your

guestion conmpletely then. I f what you're
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suggesting is that the Conmm ssion would allow us to
pass annual percentage increases in delivered fuel
prices of 3 percent on automatically to the
customer, okay; but that if those fuel prices
increased by 7 percent, that that would be a risk
to be borne by our sharehol ders. | f that was, you
know, what you were wondering, | think that that

woul d give us some concern.

Q Okay. Il would termit alittle
differently. | woul d probably termit as Otter
Tail being -- is Otter Tail willing to be held

accountable to the projections that you're

testifying to in this case on a going-forward

basi s?

A. | think that in order --

Q Fi nanci ally account abl e.

A In order to have those kinds of
accountabilities, | think you would have to be able

to have sonme control regulation over the railroad,
but you would al so have to have the same kind of
control over the coal m ne.

Now, an alternative to an automatic
pass-through in the fuel clause would be to take
some of those costs and require that they be

covered in annual rate increases supported by a




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

783
filed rate case in which case it's a mutual
determ nation as to prudency. But over the course
of time utilities are going to have to be engaged
in the management of their fuel and freight supply,
and that's a shared responsibility.

Q Okay. | do want to get back to the
question of deliverability because the testimony
that | had previously sought to have entered was
di squalified because we don't have someone here who
is able to be cross-examned to it or it would be
consi dered hearsay. | aminterested in getting
your reaction as a witness to the testinmny so |
can understand what -- if there's anything
i nfl ammabl e -- flammabl e about -- if there's
anything flamable, as M. Kuntz indicated, in the
statements that were made, | want to know what it
iS.

MR. GUERRERGO: M. Uggerud, do you have a
copy of that docunent in front of you?

THE W TNESS: | do not.

MR. GUERRERO: Can | ask a few questions
to know whet her he's even read it?

COMM SSI ONER CLARK: "1l read it. I 1
read it to him

JUDGE WAHL: | don't think he has to read
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COMM SSI ONER CLARK: "1l ask the
guestions and he can say yes or no if he agrees
with the statement.

Q (COVM SSI ONER CLARK CONTI NUI NG) Woul d you
agree with the statement that a majority of coal
used for electric generation is transported to
electric utilities in the PRB under nonconpetitive
condi tions which often results in extremely high
rates and poor service?

MR. GUERRERO:. \What page are you reading

from? |1'msorry.
COMM SSI ONER CLARK: | don't know that
it's inportant that |I'm -- consider these

guesti ons. But if you'd like to follow along, this
particul ar question is on page 4.
MR. GUERRERO: | guess | woul d.

Q (COVM SSI ONER CLARK CONTI NUI NG) Woul d you
agree with the statement that a majority of coal
used for electric generation is transported to
electric utilities under nonconmpetitive conditions
which often results in extremely high rates and
poor service?

A Well, I"mafraid that | would have

difficulty with regard to making a response with
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the degree of confort as to what your
interpretation of "often" and "very poor" m ght be.
' m concerned that an agreement in a general way
could be m sconstrued because |I'm not sure that we
woul d have the same understanding with regard to
t hose two terns.

Q Okay.

A. Now, |'m certainly not unaware of the
thing that M. Sahr was testifying to.

Q. Sur e.

A. But | think that he was trying to be
i nfl ammat ory because he was trying to make a point,
and sonmetimes you use adjectives differently when
you're trying to do that.

Q Okay. For those who may want to foll ow
along, |I'm noving to page 5, reduction in coal
deliveries. The statement was made at our February
meeting in Washington, D.C., the menmbers of NARUC
focused a good deal of attention on the coa
delivery problem We found that utilities in many
states, particularly those powered by PRB coal, had
experienced in 2005 reduced coal deliveries under
firmcontracts by 10 to 25 percent, thereby
dramatically reducing the amount of coal inventory

avail able for current and future electricity
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production. Wuld you agree with that statenment?

A Yes, | woul d.
Q It goes on to state, We understand that
many utilities expect simlar shortfalls in 2006.

These reduced coal shipnments resulted in coa
conservation programs under which utilities reduced
t he operation of their coal plants to conserve
their resources. Wuld you agree with that?

A. Yes.

Q These utilities were forced to substitute
much higher priced gas-fired production or marKket
purchases of gas-fired generation to make up the
difference. Wuld you agree with that?

A. Yes.

Q The higher costs of the substitute
gas-fired electricity has resulted in significant
rate increases to customers of rural electric
cooperatives, public power authorities, and
investor-owned utilities all across the country,
totaling hundreds of mllions and even billions of
doll ars, and have placed upward pressure on natur al
gas market prices. Wuld you agree with that?

A. | think that gets into the area of
potentially being inflammtory with a purpose.

There is no question that there were some of those
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t hings. \Whether or not to the degree that was
there, |I'm not sure. "' m not sure that | could
have written that statement with that same
forceful ness as Comm ssi oner Sahr did.

Q Woul d you have any reason to doubt that
the Edison Electric Institute testified that it
cost at least 2 billion dollars nmore than -- coa
delivered than coal ?

A. | woul dn't dispute that.

Q Movi ng down to subset V, South Dakot a:

One state's story. The NARUC testinony indicates,
as delivered by Chairman Sahr, Back in my home
state of South Dakota, we are seeing firsthand the
effects of this coal supply crisis: Power pl ants
operating at |less than ideal capacity due to supply
problems. Wuld you agree that that happened?

A. Ri ght .

Q Pl ant operators purchasing nore expensive

repl acement power; would you agree with that?

A Yes.

Q Utilities paying nore for electricity?

A Yes.

Q Consumers ultimately bearing these higher
costs?

A Yes.
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Q Adverse econom ¢ and social inmpacts of
hi gher electricity prices?

A Yes.

Q And energy security and public safety of
the region put at risk?

A Yes.

Q Moving to the next paragraph starting with
two major electric producers in my region. The
testinony indicates that, as | said, Two maj or
el ectric producers in my region, the 460 megawatt
Big Stone Power Plant near M | bank, South Dakot a,
and the Laram e River Station in Womng with its
three coal - based units, each with 550 megawatts,
rely on coal delivered by rail fromthe PRB. Wbuld
you agree at least with regard to the Big Stone

Pl ant that's the case?

A Yes.
Q These plants furnish electricity to a wide
variety of utility sectors including investor-owned

compani es, rural electric cooperatives and
muni ci pal utilities. Representatives of these
energy suppliers recently participated in a forum
hosted by the South Dakota Public Utilities

Comm ssion to describe the scope of this problem

Did Otter Tail participate in that forunf
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A. Yes.
Q At this forum ny fellow conm ssioners and
| heard, in staggering detail, how these vital

el ectric producers servicing our region have been
hit hard by poor rail service, which has
substantially hindered efficient plant operations
and produced dramatic and unexpected price
increases. Wuld you agree with this
characterization of that forun?

A. Again, it's a matter of degree, but, yes.

Q Okay. Movi ng to paragraph A, depletion of
coal stockpiles. Because the power plants are not
receiving their demand for coal normal
operations -- coal for normal operations, they have
been forced to dip into their coal stockpiles. The
stockpil es have grown perilously sparse as the
rail roads' performance has continued to |ag and the
railroads have failed to replenish the stockpiles
with new coal deliveries. | s that your experience
with Big Stone [|?

A. For a period of tinme.

Q In March, the Big Stone -- continuing, In
March, the Big Stone Power Plant stockpile dwi ndl ed
to a 10-day supply while the plant waited for their

rail service provider to deliver the needed coal
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| s that 10-day supply approximtely correct?
A Yes.
Q Some of the coal at the bottom of the
stockpil e has been stored on open ground, exposed

to the elements for 20 years in some cases, and can

only be used as a | ast resort. Is that also
correct?

A. That's correct.

Q Movi ng to security concerns. Besi des the

problem | have just described, the depletion of
this stand-by coal supply creates significant
operational concerns. Wuld you agree with that?

A. Are you reading fron?

Q " m sorry. Under paragraph B, security
concerns.

A Oh, vyes.

Q G ven the critical shortage of coal being
experienced at these plants, and the fact that
these are | arge plants designed to neet the
basel oad needs of the public, any weat her,
operational, rail accident, terrorism or other
incident could further conprom se the ability of
these electricity providers to meet the public
demand, the effect of which could be crippling for

our state and region. Wuld you agree with that?
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JUDGE WAHL: |"m sorry, M. Uggerud. Your

answer was.

THE W TNESS: | woul d agree.

JUDGE WAHL: Oh, I'm sorry.

COVMM SSI ONER CLARK: Well, |'ve got quite
a bit.

THE W TNESS: Well, | think that it's

uncharacteristically unfair to take that event,

t hough, and to leave it on the table as a

continuing concern. W've provided testimny as to

the actions that Otter Tail has undertaken to

restore deliveries to Big Stone. This was clearly

an unprecedented event in our experience within the

country for the delivery of coal from the Powder
Ri ver Basin, and many utilities experienced those
problems. There was a | ot of pressure that was
bei ng put on the railroads to make changes. And |

believe that the systemis much improved.

But | want to rem nd you that delivery of

coal fromthe Powder River is not the only fuel

supply problem that you're going to have. W got
three inches of rain at Coyote a couple weeks ago
and we were al most forced off |ine because of the

fuel quality at Coyote. And that's an occurrence
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t hat happens routinely during conditions of heavy
rainfall in western North Dakota. So the issues
that we faced at Big Stone were not unique to Big
Stone alone, and that's just a part of being an
electric utility and operating under various
condi tions. | am not sitting before the Conm ssion
personally to stress with regard to the

deliverability of coal fromthe Powder River to Big

St one.

Q (COWMM SSI ONER CLARK CONTI NUI NG) | " m not
doing this to be particularly antagonistic. It's
because the record up to this point, | believe,

i ndi cates that there were problens described in
vari ous ways, but | don't know that we have any
speci fic docunment that details the extent and very
specific concerns with regard to Big Stone 11. I
don't recall problenms at Coyote, for exanple,
having U.S. Senate Congressional hearings. This is
t he one document that provides those so that we can
put it on the record. This procedurally would seem
to nme is the way to get these concerns on the
record. So far you haven't disagreed with much
that's been st ated.

A But, you know, what's on the record

docunents a situation that existed for about a
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year's period of time following a specific event at
Powder River. It's not my opinion that those
condi tions continue today for delivery to the Big
Stone Power Plant, nor is it my opinion that those
conditions had ever existed prior in the 30-plus
years of operation of the Big Stone facility.

Q Okay. Thank you for your opinion on that.
"1l continue building the record, however. Movi ng
to conservation measures. Even if future coal
shi pments match daily burn requirements,
repl enishing the coal reserves at the plants is
taki ng an extended period of time. As a result,
these electricity providers have had to devel op or
i mpl ement conservation measures to preserve and
rebuild their di mnished stockpiles. You woul d
agree with that?

A Yes.

Q Continuing, In early April, due to the
carriers continuing service failures, the Big Stone
Power Pl ant was forced to reduce its generation
out put to 45 percent of normal | evels. | s that
accurate?

A Yes.

Q When the stockpile is replenished, it is

anticipated that plant output levels will only be
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all owed to increase to approximtely 85 percent of
the historic |evels experienced in 2004 and 2005
and still maintain the stockpile. Was that true to
a certain point?

A. That was true until the point that we
received delivery of the third set of train cars.

Q Thank you. Movi ng on to market-purchased
electricity. Curtailments such as this forced the
pl ant to purchase replacement energy on the open
mar ket at a significant cost to customers. For
exampl e, the Big Stone Plant co-owners have
expl ai ned they are purchasing power on the open
mar ket at $20 a megawatt-hour higher than they can
produce the power. Is that, do you feel, an
accurate characterization?

A. That was -- that was the experience at
that time.

Q Okay. The co-owners estimte that their
retail customers are paying an additional 3 mllion

doll ars per month for this more expensive

repl acenent electricity. Is that figure correct?
A. ' m not going to disagree with it. I

don't -- | don't know.
Q Approxi mately how |l ong did that go on for?

How many nmont hs?
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A. | don't think that it continued at that
| evel for the entire period during which we had the
D rates, and this is M. Sahr's testinony, and | do
not know what the total cunulative inpact of that
was.

Q Okay. He goes on to state that Because
the retail utility customers have rate adjustnment
cl auses, these higher costs are being passed on to
their residential, business and industri al
customers who are seeing electric bills 5 to 10
percent higher than normal as a result. Wuld you
agree with that?

A Yes.

Q Movi ng on to paragraph F, captive shipper
costs. Besi des receiving poor service, as captive
shi ppers, these conpanies are facing exorbitant
rail fees. OCtter Tail Power Conmpany, co-owner of
the Big Stone Plant, reported a 38 percent increase
in freight rates at their Big Stone Plant in just
one year. | won't ask you to comment on the
pej orative of exorbitant because we've gone over
that quite a bit, but is the 38 percent increase in
freight rates at Big Stone accurate?

A Well, | think that the 38 percent was the

experience that we had when we elected to go from a
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contract to a tariff for the purpose of chall enging
the tariff.

Q Okay. Thank you. So that woul d be
unrelated to the coal supply problems?

A. And, again, you have to keep in mnd the
purpose -- Comm ssioner Sahr's purpose here was to
try and seek some changes with regard to railroad
regul ation --

Q. Sure.

A. -- and treatment, and | can't disagree
with his intention.

Q Movi ng on to page 11, safety and econom c
t hreats. The second paragraph, Further, this
shortage threatens econom c devel opnment throughout
my state and region as well. When a power pl ant
goes into curtail ment mode, their retail custoners
may need to inmpose drastic conservation measures.
| ndustrial customers, for example, may not be able
to meet contractual agreenments and may be forced to
pay penalties to their customers. Again, not
commenting on the nature of drastic and other
adj ectives, would you agree with the statement that
i ndustrial customers have -- may not be able to
meet contractual arrangenments and then may be

forced to pay penalties to their customers?
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A | would not have an opinion as to that.

Q I n addition, when these plants purchase
electricity, such as that generated by natural gas,
on the open market, it drives up the cost of
natural gas for all purchasers of that product.
Woul d you agree with that statement?

A Probably.

Q Movi ng on to the stopgap efforts that were

made, Comm ssioner Sahr indicates that the Big

Stone Plant -- it's in the m ddle of the
paragraph -- the Big Stone Plant arranged to commt
receiving trains of Montana coal. Is that correct?

A Yes, we did.

Q And while that effort has all owed the
plant to build back its stockpile to a normal
30-day level, it has come at a cost. The Montana
coal has a higher sulfur content than PRB coal
The additional sul fur dioxide allowances that are
required with the fuel make this option
prohi bitively expensive for the plant. Would you
agree with that, what | just read, beginning with
the Big Stone Plant is receiving the Montana coal ?

A. | didn't write this and, again, it's a
matter of detail, but if it was prohibitively

expensive, | wouldn't know why we did it. | think
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we did it. It came at a cost. | think what we're
pl aying with here is construction of an argunment
t hat was intended to be inflammatory for a
di fferent purpose.

Q But there were --
A It was expensive, but it wasn't so

prohibitive that we didn't do it.

Q Woul d you be able to quantify those costs
to the Comm ssion in a filing?

A. The costs of fuel supply disruptions in
2005.

Q Well, switching to the Montana coal.

guess | 'm specifically asking about that.

A Well - -

Q Actually, | think I already asked for
costs associated with it, so that would be
contained in that.

Continuing on, In addition, Big Stone has
fixed quantity contracts in place with two PRB
m nes and taking the Montana coal put the Big Stone
co-owners at risk for not meeting contractual
obl i gations. Is that correct?

A Ri ght. And we were able to avoid that
t hrough the invocation of a force majeure.

Q Okay. And then the final question, in the
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concl usion section, second paragraph, Legislative
and regul atory reform at the federal |evel are also
necessary to help ensure nmore reliable rail
service, inmproved rail operations and dedi cated
capacity inmprovenments, nore rail carrier options
for shippers, and nore equitable rates for affected
shi ppers. Are you aware of any | egislative or
regul atory reformefforts that have succeeded
bet ween when this was delivered and today?

A. | don't think that there's been any
| egi sl ative or regul atory changes that have
succeeded during the period since that event.
think that there have been some inprovenments
t hrough the actions of the Burlington Northern and
the Union Pacific on their own volition that have
i mproved the situation. These conditions do not
exi st today that were described in this report.
COMM SSI ONER CLARK: Okay. Thank you.
And | do apol ogi ze again for the anmount of time
t hat took.
JUDGE WAHL: Any further questions from
t he Comm ssion?
COWMM SSI ONER CRAMER: "1l resist the
great tenptation.

COVMM SSI ONER WEFALD: But | do.
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JUDGE WAHL: | realize I'"'minto the noon
hour, but |I'm also thinking we're very close to
being finished.
MR. GUERREROC: | just have two
follow-up -- two or three follow-up questions.
JUDGE WAHL: M. Guerrero.
REDI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY MR. GUERRERO:
Q M. Uggerud, do you know whether or not
the State of North Dakota has competitive rail?
A. It does not.
Q And that would also include nonconpetitive

rail for grain shippers?

A. That's right.

Q For ethanol suppliers?

A Correct.

Q For bi odi esel suppliers?

A. Ri ght .

Q The fact that North Dakota doesn't have --

the fact that North Dakota does not have
competitive rail, when any of these businesses are
consi dering expansion, they will have to consider
t hese issues; is that correct?

A. Ri ght .

Q Are those any different than you have to
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consider in your business?

A No. In fact, 1've worked with some of
t hose shippers and advised themwith regard to --
on numerous rail transportation issues.

Q And it's obvious you would agree, M.
Uggerud, that M. Sahr was concerned when he wrote
this testimny?

Yes, he was.
Q And this testimny was written and

subm tted May 25th, 20067

A. Ri ght .

Q Was Mr. Sahr a comm ssioner on the Public
Utilities Comm ssion in South Dakota for the Big
Stone Unit Il energy conversion facility permt
matter?

A Yes.

Q Did he sit through several days of
heari ng?

A Yes.

Q Do you know how he voted in that case?

A In an approval of the Big Stone project.

MR. GUERRERO: No further questions.
JUDGE WAHL: M. Breen, anything further?
" m sorry. Ms. La Seur. " m sorry.

MS. LA SEUR: | have nothing further.
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JUDGE WAHL: M. Binek, anything further?

MR. Bl NEK: Not hi ng further.

JUDGE WAHL: All right. Thank you very
much, M. Uggerud. Anyt hing further, M. Guerrero?

MR. GUERREROC: Not hing further. Thank
you, Your Honor.

JUDGE WAHL: All right. Comm ssi oners,
anything further?

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Yes. Tuesday |
asked a question about the concept of tying an
incentive type of return to success in nmeeting the
esti mated busbar cost of constructing Big Stone |
and transm ssi on. | would like to receive
| ate-filed exhibits fromthe parties setting forth
their position on this issue, its application in
this proceeding, setting forth a proposal and a
description of the benefits of such a plan to
consumers.

MR. KUNTZ: Can you repeat that again?

MR. BREEN: Could you repeat that?

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Yes. Tuesday |
asked a question about the concept of tying an
incentive type rate of return to success in neeting
the esti mated busbar cost of constructing Big Stone

Il and transm ssi on. | would like to receive
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| ate-filed exhibits fromthe parties setting forth
their position on this issue, its application in
this proceeding, setting forth a proposal and a
description of the benefits of such a plant to
consunmers.

MR. GUERRERO:. What time frame do you
anticipate?

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: | woul d | eave that
up to the hearing officer.

MR. GUERRERO:. The only reason | ask, Your
Honor, is something like that's not something
that's put together.

JUDGE WAHL: Do we need to work this out
on the record? | think probably not. Along
with -- we've got what, we've got this question,
we' ve got briefing, we' ve got sonme housekeepi ng
things to finish up which we m ght do off the
record and adjourn the hearing.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: "1l just speak to
t he question of timeliness. It relates to the
reasonabl eness of the proposal, and so that is why
' m asking for this information.

MR. Bl NEK: | would just |ike one
clarification. | "' m assum ng you're not asking the

advocacy staff to prepare that.
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COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: | would certainly be
wel come to ideas fromthe advocacy staff as well as
fromthe parties and fromthe intervenor.

MR. Bl NEK: | think we'd have difficulty
putting that together, not having the access to the
company records.

COWMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Well, basically, if
you remenber what my concept was in proposing this,
and |'mgoing to try to get it right this time,

t hat the company could earn a higher rate of return
on capital cost if they came in below cost, they
could earn a lower rate of return if they came in
above cost.

MR. Bl NEK: Do you think we can do it?

MR. KUNTZ: Comm ssioner, with all due
respect, this plant could operate for 30 years. I
don't know how this Comm ssion or these utilities
could bind future comm ssions to giving a higher or
| ower rate of return on this plant that far into
the future. Are you talking just for some |[imted
period? | mean, this Comm ssion may not have the
same makeup at the time that this plant even comes
on line for its first rate increase. ' m not sure
how we could -- constitutionally, |I'm not sure how

we could even agree to something like this,
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COWMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Well, apparently the
M nnesota conmm ssion set up a plan that Xcel agreed
to, and so if you want ideas on what has been done
in the past, you could take a | ook at the M nnesota
comm ssion and the -- one of their coal plants, |
believe it was the Riverside Plant that they
converted from coal to natural gas.

MR. KUNTZ: Thank you.

JUDGE WAHL: Anything further for the
record fromthe Conmm ssion?

COMM SSI ONER CLARK: Cl osing comments, is
t hat what you're asking for?

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Cl osing comments, we
woul d be wel come to do that.

JUDGE WAHL: All right. | s that where
we're at?

MR. GUERRERO:. This can be either on the
record or off the record, but it may be hel pful --
and we can do this off the record -- just to go
t hrough so we're all on the same page as to what
the late-filed exhibits are. There are several,
and | think I've got a list. "' mjust not sure
have a conplete list, and | want to make sure that
we're responsive to the Conm ssion's request. So

we can do that on the record or off the record or
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we can huddl e and come back, however you want to do
it.

JUDGE WAHL: Well, | would have hoped that
counsel would have their notes in order, frankly.

MR. GUERREROC: | was hoping to have it --
if we could huddle off the record a m nute, have it
read onto the record so that there is a formal
record as to exactly what |late-filed exhibits are
going to be required.

JUDGE WAHL: For the Comm ssion's review
and approval ?

MR. GUERRERO: For a record more than
anything as parties get the transcript. ' m sorry.
Maybe | didn't understand your question. There's
several late-filed exhibits and I think it's
i mportant --

JUDGE WAHL: | understand that. And you
want to prepare a list that the parties agree on,
and then do you want the Comm ssion to review it
and approval it?

MR. GUERRERO:. Sure. Just to make sure
that we didn't m ss any that the Comm ssion may
have in their notes.

COMM SSI ONER CLARK: M. Hearing Officer,

t hat does carry a little bit of a risk for the
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Comm ssion in that if we sort of approve this |ist,
there may be something that | just can't remenber

over the | ast three days that doesn't get on the

l[ist.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: The record wil|
show.

JUDGE WAHL: Again, that's ny point. M.
Kunt z.

MR. KUNTZ: How about if in three days or
so we prepare a |list of what we believe to be the
outstandi ng exhibits, submt it to the Comm ssion.
| f what we're preparing isn't what you wanted, then
| et us know so, you know, what we do submt neets
your expectation sufficiently in advance. We're
going to have to talk about when these are going to
be fil ed. But what, | think, m ght be some val ue
is that we give you a |list based on our notes of
what we understand the Comm ssion was | ooking for.
If there's a question, | think it may be an
interpretation of what was asked for versus what we
understood. We can provide that |ist of what we're
goi ng to prepare. | f you want somet hing different
than that, then |let us know before we submt it.
think that m ght be nore beneficial.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Pat Fahn, do you
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have -- he's our adviser to the Comm ssion. Do you
have any suggestions on this?

MR. FAHN: Well, | think the Comm ssion
could respond and determ ne whether the itenms in
your list are what they thought they were.

MR. KUNTZ: Ri ght .

MR. FAHN: But | don't know if the
Comm ssion will remember every item We may have
to |l ook through the transcript to determ ne that.

MR. KUNTZ: And we've got notes where we
were requested to provide late-filed exhibits. Wy
concern is there could be an interpretation issue
as to what we're going to generate i s what was
really being sought, and the list that we would
provide, | think, would maybe have a little bit of
detail in terms of what we intend to provide with
| ate-filed exhibits.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: | think that would
be a good first step.

JUDGE WAHL: All right. Then let's
proceed accordingly. All right. Comm ssi oners,
your closing comments. Comm ssi oner Wef al d.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: | would like to
t hank everyone for the very thorough and thoughtf ul

comments that have been presented to the Conm ssion
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in this case. | very much appreciate all of the
parties' conmments. |'ve | earned a great deal from
everyone's presentations. | had wondered, since

there were such volum nous materials presented to
t he Comm ssion ahead of time, whether | could |earn
more fromthe hearing than | had fromthe
mat eri als, but the hearing was very, very hel pful
to me as far as sorting through different ideas and
clarifying my thoughts. And so | appreciate very
much this opportunity to have this hearing and the
t hought ful presentations that have been made by all
parties. Thank you.

JUDGE WAHL: Comm ssioner Clark.

COMM SSI ONER CLARK: |, too, would like to
t hank everyone. If there were -- just to put
things in perspective, if there's moments where
guesti ons perhaps seem pointed, there's a good
reason for it. As | |look at this plant, 1.6
billion dollars is more than the entire State of
North Dakota spends in its general fund budget in
an annual basis. It's a |l ot of nmoney. North
Dakota ratepayers are going to be asked to be put
on line for potentially 300 to 400 mllion of the
capital costs, not including conpleted retail

costs.
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So if there's one thing I think that all
of us have | earned through someti mes pai nful
precedent is we have to have a really good record
if we're going to make a deci sion, because that's
the only thing upon which that we have to write an
order. So our exploration of certain topics and
our questioning of those in the record that you put
forward is all in that spirit. And | want to thank
you for the amount of time you put in. Thanks.

JUDGE WAHL: Comm ssi oner Cramer.

COMM SSI ONER CRAMER: "1l just echo what
my fellow comm ssioners have said and say thank
you.

JUDGE WAHL: All right. This hearing --
t hese hearings, | guess, are adjourned.

(Concl uded at 12:20 p.m, June 28, 2007.)
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